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Statement of Compliance

hon Bill mARmion mlA 

miniSteR foR CommeRCe; SCienCe And innovAtion; houSing; miniSteR ASSiSting the 

tReASuReR

in accordance with Section 61 of the financial management Act 2006, i hereby submit for your 
information and presentation to Parliament, the annual report of ChemCentre for the 12 months ended 
30th June 2010. the comparative figures are for the 12 months to 30 June 2009.

the annual report has been prepared in accordance with the provisions of the financial management Act 
2006.

ContaCt Details 
 
StReet AddReSS
level 21
governor Stirling tower
197 St georges tce
PeRth wA 6000

eleCtRoniC AddReSS
web: www.dpc.wa.gov.au
email: minister.marmion@dpc.wa.gov.au
telephone:  +61 8 9222 9111
fax: +61 8 9222 9410

Statement of Compliance

dr John farrow
member of governing Board
date: 10th September 2010

mr david mcAuliffe
member of governing Board
date: 10th September 2010
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From the Chair

in march 2010, i was very pleased to be able to 
lead the official opening of the new ChemCentre 
premises in the Resources and Chemistry Precinct 
in Bentley. the opening was a celebration, marking 
the culmination of years of work and planning by 
the ChemCentre Board, executive and staff, and 
heralding the next step in the ChemCentre journey 
towards commercial sustainability and growth.

the ChemCentre Board itself has changed – in the 
past year we have welcomed the appointment of 
a new Board member, david mcAuliffe and the 
reappointment of a former Board member, dr 
Peter Stransky. Both mr mcAuliffe and 
dr Stransky bring valuable expertise 
and experience to a Board which 
now broadly covers all of the key 
skills and knowledge necessary 
to provide prudent governance 
for ChemCentre, and which is 
working very effectively as a 
team 

Boards of statutory authorities 
face a complex task, and the 
ChemCentre Board is no exception. 
on behalf of our shareholder (the 
government of western Australia) and 
our other stakeholders (the people of wA, our 
staff, our partners, our customers) we are trying 
to guide our organisation towards commercial 
sustainability through brand recognition, 
excellence in timely delivery of quality products 
to a growing customer base, new products 
and new markets, and commercially attractive 
and competitive pricing (based on a proper 
understanding of our cost base that will allow 
us to price our services in a way that reflects the 
true costs plus an acceptable margin). we need to 
guide our organisation strategically, understand 
and manage its risks, scrutinise its financial 
performance and ensure seamless board and 
management succession. At the same time, the 
Board is trying to assist ChemCentre management 
to change staff, contractor and customer 
behaviours and perceptions as the organisation 
moves away from the cocoon of government 

allocation into the cold, hard commercial world of 
markets and financing and fierce competitors. the 
ChemCentre Board is delivering on these aims – 
the Board and its committees are now functioning 
well under the Board Charter and, coupled with 
a high degree of confidence in the current Ceo 
and his management team, has been able to 
move away from its past role as almost a board 
of management, to be a true and independent 
Board of directors with a strong focus on strategic 
direction, and on oversight of ChemCentre’s 
financial and safety, health and environmental 
performance, risks and sustainability.

At the end of 2009, the Board engaged in a series 
of planning workshops to build a vision 

for ChemCentre and to understand 
the transformations required to 

achieve this vision. this planning 
was captured in two documents 

– the Statement of Corporate 
intent and the Strategic 
development Plan - which 
were delivered to the 

government in february, and 
which provide a blueprint for the 

organisation’s future. 

Both of these documents highlight 
the fact that in order for ChemCentre 

to thrive, a new business ethos is required – a 
commercial culture which reinforces and enhances 
the core responsibilities ChemCentre has to the 
western Australian people:
• Customer Service - delivery of world class 

chemical analytical services on time and on 
budget

• keeping the State safe - provision of emergency 
response capabilities

• Continuous improvement – improving the 
way we work, and developing, keeping and 
leveraging intellectual property

• Zero harm – having effective management 
systems in place for safety, occupational health 
and the environment

• Social responsibility – cooperating with the 
communities where we work

• minimising government allocations - delivering 
commercial outcomes on a fee-for-service basis

From the Chair
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within this new focus, the Board is working closely 
with the ChemCentre leadership group to define a 
balanced way forward. for ChemCentre to become 
a commercially sustainable organisation, there 
must be a strong focus on finding and marketing 
the right mix of products and services at the right 
price, whilst continuing to recognise and deliver 
against ChemCentre’s existing community service 
obligations and ongoing research and educational 
activities.

Part of this change has been the implementation 
of a new brand, and the marketing and 
communication strategies that support our new 
corporate identity. Adaptation and acceptance 
by the staff and clients of ChemCentre has been 
excellent and, as a result, i am able to report to 
you that the rebranding process has been very 
successful.

As Chair of the Board, i have also appreciated 
the strengthening of ChemCentre’s relationship 
with our key stakeholder – the government 
of wA through the minister for Science and 
innovation, Commerce, housing and minister 
Assisting the treasurer. in 2010 in particular, 
a close working relationship has developed 
between ChemCentre and the minister’s 
office. the previous minister sat in on 
one of our board meetings, and i am 
pleased to note that his successor 
visited ChemCentre to examine the 
new premises, and to experience the 
scope and importance of our work first 
hand, within a few weeks of assuming his 
portfolio in may.

i mentioned earlier the confidence that the 
Board has in ChemCentre’s senior management. 
in particular, i thank the Ceo Peter millington 
and the director of Business and Corporate 
Services Ross Blakey, for their leadership, expertise, 
transparency and willingness to embrace and 
manage change in order to bring about a new 
culture and commercial focus. the Board and 
management of ChemCentre are now working 
very well together.

finally, and perhaps most importantly, i would like 

to thank the staff of ChemCentre. in a year that 
has seen many changes and uncertainties, the 
commitment to excellence, the devotion, and the 
sheer hard work displayed by all staff has allowed 
ChemCentre to continue to provide scientific 
services of the highest standards to the western 
Australian and broader Australian communities, 
and to grow those services to new customers and 
new marketplaces from our new home in Bentley.

dr Bret mattes
Chair, ChemCentre Board

From the Chair

Dr Bret Mattes with Emeritus Professor 
Ian Ritchie and Chief Scientist of 
Western Australia, Professor Lyn 

Beazley, at ChemCentre’s opening in 
the new Ian Ritchie Building.
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From the Ceo

ChemCentre exists to provide essential chemical 
and forensic services to ensure a safe and 
prosperous western Australian community.

this purpose drives ChemCentre’s activities and 
in the past year, the Board and ChemCentre’s 
leadership group have established 
a vision which encompasses this 
purpose and establishes the 
potential for growth.

By 2015 ChemCentre 
will be a commercial 
enterprise recognised 
as Australia’s most 
trusted and effective 
provider of emergency 
response and complex 
chemical solutions. 

in order to achieve the 
vision set out in the strategic 
documentation, there are four 
major transformations which 
must occur in order for ChemCentre 
to realise its vision by 2015. they are:

1. ChemCentre will be a more commercially 
sustainable organisation.

2. ChemCentre will be more focussed, with 
recognition as a world leader in its core areas.

3. ChemCentre’s customer base will broaden and 
deepen.

4. ChemCentre will be a larger organisation with 
higher revenue.

An overarching theme across these 
transformational areas is a greater push towards 
commercialisation, both in our organisational 
culture and approach to business, whilst 
continuing to provide value to the wA community. 

to this end, i have undertaken a series of 
management activities across the past financial 
year, including:

• Restructuring the ChemCentre executive – both 
the constituency and operations to incorporate 
representation across the organisation.

• Assessing our essential services to the wA 
community, including the provision of 
response services for hazardous material and 
Chemical, Biological and Radiological incidents 
and looking for opportunities to enhance and 

consolidate delivery models.
• Reviewing our current 

business activities and 
operational sections, including 

loss-making sections.
• Strengthening 

reporting and 
accountability 

within sections 
and reinforcing 
the performance 

and professional 
development structure.

despite concerns the global 
economic crisis may impact on 

our commercial client revenue 
streams, ChemCentre was left 

relatively unscathed. however, we 
have made a loss this year, and i am working in 
conjunction with ChemCentre’s leadership group 
to address issues which have led to this loss, 
including an undervaluing of specialised scientific 
services, client relationship management and a 
delay between the completion of analyses and 
invoicing. unexpected costs, including payroll tax 
payments, have also contributed to the overall loss 
of the past financial year. in addition, circa $700k 
in appropriation from the State government with 
respect to additional costs incurred in the 2009-
2010 financial year have been delayed until the 
new financial year.

over the past year we have concentrated on 
increasing the safety of ChemCentre’s working 
environment and practices, as well as guaranteeing 
the integrity of our scientific undertakings and 
the quality of our output. we have appointed 
two dedicated roles – a Safety officer and quality 
manager – to oversee ChemCentre’s operations to 
ensure we comply with legislated and corporate 

From the Chief Executive Officer
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responsibilities whilst maintaining the reputation 
of the quality of our scientific information and 
consultancy.

As ChemCentre exists as a service provider to the 
western Australian community, it is critical the 
diversity and quality of our work is communicated 
to the wider public. over the past year, we have 
participated in community outreach activities and 
media appearances, both locally (e.g. clandestine 
drug laboratories, the dangers of caffeine and 
citrus aurantium tablets, phenol-based cleaners) 
and internationally (e.g. the tracer gas release 
study in the Boston Subway). in the coming year 
we aim to further build our profile, and incorporate 
within our public communications the 
value proposition of ChemCentre for all 
western Australians. 

my thanks to the Board for 
their invaluable input into the 
strategic planning process, 
which has resulted in the 
vision and actions listed 
above. the working 
relationships between 
the members of 
the Board and 
ChemCentre’s 
management 
group have been 
strengthened 
through the strategic 
planning process and 
have set out a common 
goal applicable across all 
levels of the organisation.

during the challenging year i 
have also appreciated the strong 
support i have received from the 
executive management group in 
supporting and introducing the many 
changes we have implemented.

i also thank the staff of ChemCentre, for their 
flexibility and dedication in maintaining the 
quality of our scientific consultancy and output 
throughout an eventful year.

mr Peter millington
Chief executive officer

From the Chief Executive Officer

Mr Peter Millington, second from 
right, with (from left to right) Emeritus 
Professor Ian Ritchie, Mrs Ann Ritchie 

and Professor Jeanette Hacket, 
Vice-Chancellor of Curtin University.
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Executive Summary

SeRviCe 1: CommeRCiAl And SCientifiC 
infoRmAtion And AdviCe
Development and delivery of quality scientific 
information and advice, including commercial 
services, to government, industry and the community.

over the 2009-2010 financial year, ChemCentre:
• Provided expert advice and analysis as a 

key agency in the esperance Cleanup and 
Recovery Program, a wA government initiative 
to investigate and remove possible lead and 
nickel contamination in the esperance Port and 
townsite.

• developed and implemented real-time 
hydrogen sulphide gas (‘rotten egg gas’) field 
monitoring, including a web portal, to monitor 
gas release from decaying seagrass in Port 
geographe for the department of transport, 
allowing key stakeholders including the Shire 
of Busselton, contractors and community 
members to access up to date information 
on gas levels and modify seagrass removal 
accordingly.

• Shared with commercial and recreational 
turf management groups the results of a 
ChemCentre led-study into the use of treated 
wastes to improve the nutrient and water 
retention of sandy soils on the Swan Coastal 
Plain, in order to minimise the impact on 
surrounding ecosystems.

• Provided scientific advice on the impact 
of phosphorous-related issues in western 
Australia, as part of the fertiliser Action Plan’s 
expert Panel, leading to the announcement of 
new limits on phosphorous levels in domestic-
use fertilisers.

• maintained our market position as the only 
independent, nAtA accredited laboratory 
capable of fertiliser analysis, thereby increasing 
the number of private clients submitting 
fertilisers for testing.

• Conducted an intensive, week-long 
Clandestine drug laboratory training course 
(in conjunction with wA Police), with delegates 
attending from around Australia.

• hosted a delegation from the Singaporean 
health Science Authority, including attendance 

at the Clandestine drug laboratory training 
course and illicit drugs laboratory training.

• Raised public awareness of clandestine drug 
laboratories and related risks, through media 
appearances and presentations to groups 
including Curtin university of technology’s 
Pharmacy program and the Australia new 
Zealand forensic Science Society.

• Participated in the Steering Committee for the 
upcoming Australasian Chemical diversion 
Congress 2010, an international meeting to 
be held in Perth, aimed at reducing illicit drug 
manufacturing chemicals supply through 
partnership and education.

• Analysed and provided expert advice on a 
range of unusual illicit drugs new to western 
Australia, such as methcathinone and a range 
of its derivatives (including ‘meow meow’).

• Appointed two new clandestine drug 
laboratory trained chemists to assist wA Police 
in the assessment, processing and dismantling 
of clandestine drug laboratories throughout 
western Australia.

• expanded oral fluid confirmatory drug testing 
capacity for industry clients requiring safe, 

Executive Summary

ChemCentre scientists are briefed by 
WA Police before entering a clandestine 
drug laboratory. (Courtesy WA Police)
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gender-neutral workplace drug testing 
schemes.

• Provided rapid response and analysis for the 
determination of potential contaminants (e.g. 
heavy metals, pesticides) in cases arising from 
the death of dolphins in the Swan River.

• Conducted a heavy metals survey of Swan River 
fish, including analysis for methyl mercury and 
tributyl tin.

• Achieved successful reaccreditation of all 
laboratories and services with the national 
Association of testing Authorities after 
completing relocation.

SeRviCe 2: ReSeARCh And develoPment
Delivery of quality project-based knowledge, know-
how and/or intellectual property relevant to state 
development, public health and safety, or delivery of 
ChemCentre’s other services.

(where the research has been conducted with a 
major partner or funding body, these are indicated 
in parentheses.)

over the 2009-2010 financial year, ChemCentre:

• Submitted the results of an investigation into 
the potential of recycled and treated biosolids 
as soil amendments for Perth’s Bassendean 
soils, to determine the amended soils’ ability to 
retain nutrients and water (water Corporation).

• investigated the use of bauxite refinery by-
products as alternatives to ‘traditional’ lime 
sources for treating acidic soils (department of 
Agriculture and food wA).

• Analysed alkaloid levels in lupins, as part 
of a wider study into possible human lupin 
consumption (department of Agriculture and 
food wA).

• Researched genetic ‘signatures’ for western 
Australian commercial abalone (Australian 
Seafood Cooperative Research Centre).

• developed methods to detect ‘biomarkers’ 
(chemical by-products) resulting from exposure 
to diesel exhaust, an important technique 
for monitoring in transportation and similar 
industries.
• established enhanced ‘compositional’ 

capabilities for seafood, including methods 
for measuring protein levels, anti-nutritional 
factors, fats and fatty acids.

• developed new methods for detecting 
complex veterinary drugs in seafood, including 
fenbendazole and praziquantel.

• Completed its contribution to the project 
‘manufacture, Characterisation, neutralisation 
and detection of tAtP and Similar organic 
Peroxide explosives’, thereby enhancing 
understanding of potential security threats 
(department of Prime minister and Cabinet).

• initiated the construction of a ‘fibres’ database, 
allowing the profiling and colour identification 
of fibres for use in forensic cases.

• developed methods to detect potential 
contaminants in water down to previously 
unachievable sensitivities, including parts-per-
trillion (water Corporation).

• improved the western Australian capacity 
to measure certain standard water quality 
parameters (water Corporation).

• Completed a major study into organometallics 
in alumina refineries.

• Completed a major study into adsorbed 
organic species on respirable alumina particles.

Executive Summary

A ChemCentre scientist prepares soil 
samples from the Esperance Cleanup 

and Recovery Program.
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SeRviCe 3: emeRgenCy ReSPonSe 
mAnAgement
Specialist technical advice and support to 
government and industry in managing the risks 
arising from unmanaged chemical-biological-
radiological releases.

over the 2009-2010 financial year, ChemCentre:
• Attended and resolved 39 official emergency 

response incidents, including an esperance 
Port fire, analysing chemicals dumped in 
remote locations, fires at plastics and chemical 
facilities and ‘white powder’ incidents involving 
unknown, potentially hazardous chemicals.

• enhanced wA’s counterterrorism capacity 
through a leadership role in the 

national Chemical warfare Agent 
laboratory network.

• Continued best-practice 
emergency response 

knowledge sharing with 
international security 
agencies, including 

the federal Bureau of 
investigation (uS), the 

department of homeland 
Security (uS), the environmental 

Protection Agency (uS) and the 
defence Science and technology 

laboratory (uk).
• Sent a delegation of three 
emergency Response team members to 
participate in the Boston Subway tracer 
gas and biological particle release and 
study.

• Participated in a State-based emergency 
response training exercise, in conjunction with 
the fire and emergency Services Authority and 
wA Police.

• Contributed scientific knowledge from ‘Protect 
in Place’ studies to the development of new 
Australian guidelines for building evacuation 
strategies.

finAnCiAl oveRview

the actual loss before tax for the year ended 30 
June 2010 was $1,861,000 compared to an actual 
profit last year of $2,410,000 before tax and a 

budget profit before tax of $400,000. As mentioned 
under Signficant issues and trends (page 17), 
the published budget papers do not reflect the 
budgets used by ChemCentre internally and in 
the Statement of Corporate intent and therefore 
the comments hereunder will be limited to the 
shortfall in performance against previous year.

Revenue from provision of services has increased 
by $1,534,000 (14.4%) to $12,200,000. however 
expenses during the same period have increased 
by $7,162,000 to $21,884,000. the main reason 
for this increase is accommodation and removal 
expenses resulting from ChemCentre’s move to 
Curtin university Chemistry Precinct in Bentley 
in September 2009. this resulted in additional 
accommodation expenses of $3,909,000 (note 12) 
and removal expenses of $295,000 (note 13). had 
it not been for the additional rent and relocation 
expenses, expenses would have increased by 
$2,958,000 or 20%. the main reasons for this real 
increase in cost over previous year are as follows:

1. employee benefits expense increased by 
$2,014,000 (23%) to $10,861,000, including 
$558,000 additional expenses in respect of 
Annual leave and $507,000 in respect of 
voluntary redundancy cost. the voluntary 
redundancy cost was offset by additional 
recurrent appropriations for the same amount.

2. external laboratory expenses increased by 
$276,000 to primarily underpin analysis work 
for water Corporation.

3. Staff training and other staff expenses 
increased by $220,000. 

4. Consultant fees for new software systems 
increased by $180,000.

5. other minor expenses including compliance 
costs increased by $327,000.

in the 12 months to 30 June 2010 cash fell by 
$2,147, 000 to $1,644,000, primarily due to the 12 
months loss to 30 June 2010 and the payment of 
payroll tax arrears in respect of the years ending 
30 June 2008 and 2009 amounting to $836,000. 
in addition recurrent appropriations for rent paid 
above initial estimates to 30 June 2010 were 
delayed and not paid until July 2010.

Executive Summary

A ChemCentre 
scientist calibrates 
an instrument for 
gas monitoring 
in the Boston 

Subway.



Operational Structure

enabling legislation
ChemCentre was established as a statutory authority under the Chemistry Centre (WA) Act 2007, on 1 
August 2007. 

responsible minister
the hon Bill marmion mlA - minister for Commerce; Science and innovation; housing; minister Assisting 
the treasurer.

mission
Applying technical knowledge to practical problems to achieve effective outcomes for communities, 
governments and industry.

to paraphrase the functions described in the enabling legislation, within its areas of expertise and in a 
cost effective manner, ChemCentre will:
• manage the government’s risks;
• Contribute to state development;
• Contribute to education and knowledge in wA; and
• operate a successful consulting business.

organisational Chart
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Operational Structure

Minister for Commerce;  
Science & Innovation; Housing; 
Minister Assisting the Treasurer 

Hon Bill Marmion MLA

Colin Priddis 
Chief 

Forensic Science

Peter McCafferty 
Chief

Natural Resources

Lee Bell
Executive Assistant

Allison Hewitt 
Quality Manager

Ross Blakey 
Director, Business & 
Corporate Services

Peter Millington
Chief Executive Officer

ChemCentre  
Board

Dr Neil Rothnie
Chief

Investigative Chemistry

Sarah Lau 
Media & Communications 

Coordinator

Marlene Hayward  
Manager 

Human Resources & 
Information Services

Chandana Weerasekera
Management 
Accountant

Li Chen 
Accountant

Charles Russo
Science Business 

Manager 
Racing Chemistry

Dr Dominic Reynolds
A/ Science Business 

Manager 
Illicit Drugs

Peter Collins 
Science Business 

Manager 
Physical Evidence

Robert Hansson 
Science Business 

Manager 
Toxicology

Dr Steve Wilkinson 
Science Business 

Manager 
Emergency Response

Dr David Harris 
Science Business 

Manager 
Food & Agriculture

Rick Staker 
Science Business 

Manager 
Land Resources

Dr Peter Taylor 
Science Business 

Manager 
Residues Chemistry

Jenny McGuire 
Science Business 

Manager 
Environmental Chemistry
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ChemCentre’s boarD

each member of the Board is appointed by the 
minister for Science and innovation and selected 
for the relevant expertise that each brings. the 
initial appointments were variously for one, two 
and three years. each subsequent appointment 
(or re-appointment) will be for three year 
terms, allowing a staggered rotation of board 
membership.

dR BRet mAtteS  
(ChAiR)
originally trained as an oceanographer, dr 
mattes held several positions in Shell, including 
geoscientist and exploration manager, before 
moving in 1990 to BhP Petroleum. Between 1990 
and 2007, dr mattes held several roles in BhP 
Petroleum, finishing his time with that company 
as vice-President Australia/Asia gas & Power, BhP 
Billiton. he is now Ceo and managing director of 
Star energy, an indonesian energy company with 
interests in petroleum and geothermal energy. 

PRof. lindA kRiStJAnSon  
(dePuty ChAiR)
Professor linda kristjanson is deputy vice 
Chancellor Research & development, Curtin 
university of technology in western Australia. 
Between 2000 and 2006 she held the position of 
the Cancer Council wA Chair of Palliative Care. 
in this role, Professor kristjanson created and 

led the western Australian Centre for Cancer & 
Palliative Care. Professor kristjanson has received 
competitive research funding from local and 
national organisations in Canada, the uSA and 
Australia. Professor kristjanson was chosen as the 
2002 Australian telstra Business woman of the year 
for her entrepreneurial work in science.

dR liAnne CRetney-BARneS
dr Cretney-Barnes has held senior positions in both 
private and public sector organisations for over 20 
years and has considerable experience in strategic 
marketing, branding and business development. 
She has also worked in communications, 
recruitment, alumni relations, external and 
government relations and fundraising. She 
has won awards from the Australian marketing 
institute national Awards for marketing excellence 
in both 2002 and 2003. dr Cretney-Barnes is also 
an Associate fellow of the Australian institute 
of management and the Australian marketing 
institute, and a graduate of the Australian institute 
of Company directors. 

dR John fARRow
dr farrow has more than 25 years experience 
in hydrometallurgy and has roles of waterford 
site manager and theme leader within the 
Commonwealth Scientific and industrial Research 
organisation (CSiRo). he has worked on a broad 
range of collaborative research projects with all 
key Australian and overseas minerals processing 

Operational Structure

ChemCentre’s 
Board and executive 
(from l to R): mr david 
mcAuliffe, mr Colin Priddis, 
dr lianne Cretney-Barnes, 
dr Peter Stransky, dr John 
farrow, dr Bret mattes, 
mr Peter millington, 
mr Ross Blakey, Prof. 
linda kristjanson, mr 
Peter mcCafferty, dr neil 
Rothnie. (Absent: dr keith 
Shilkin.)
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companies, as well as a range of engineering 
companies, reagent suppliers and equipment 
manufacturers. dr farrow is a fellow of the 
Australian institute of mining and metallurgy and 
has received several awards for his research and 
technology transfer activities.

dR keith Shilkin
dr Shilkin was the Ceo of Pathwest for ten years. 
Prior to that, he was the head of department of 
Pathology at Sir Charles gairdner hospital and held 
other Pathology appointments in Perth, Singapore, 
london and new york. he is widely published in 
the professional literature. he has held numerous 
positions in professional pathology and associated 
organisations and committees. he has been 
active over many years in various community 
organisations. dr Shilkin was this year made a 
member of the order of Australia for services to 
medicine and the Jewish Community.

dR PeteR StRAnSky  
(re-appointed on 29/09/2009)
dr Stransky has over 25 years experience as an 
industrial and production chemist, working 
mostly with industry on the kwinana strip. his 
roles varied from research scientist to Commercial 
manager and he has had considerable experience 
in designing and realising commercial industrial 
projects, including financial, contractual and 
technical aspects. Since 2006, he has continued to 
be involved in business development assignments 
for minerals and chemicals companies in his role as 
an independent consultant.

mR dAvid mCAuliffe  
(Appointed on 23/09/2009)
mr mcAuliffe was founder and until very recently 
the executive director of neurodiscovery. he has 
over fourteen years experience in the international 
life Science sector. during this time he has 
been involved in numerous capital raisings and 
technology in-licensing exercises. mr mcAuliffe 
has an honours degree in law and a Bachelor of 
Pharmacy degree, is a non executive director of 
living Cell technologies and is the President of the 
dyslexia-Speld foundation wA (inc).

senior oFFiCers

mR PeteR millington  
(Chief exeCutive offiCeR)
mr millington has extensive experience in 
Corporate management in the public sector 
including several years as acting Ceo of the 
department of fisheries.

mR RoSS BlAkey
(diReCtoR, BuSineSS & CoRPoRAte SeRviCeS)
mr Blakey has over 25 years wide-ranging 
commercial experience in the private sector as 
an executive director and Company Secretary of 
Public companies.

aDministereD legislation

ChemCentre does not administer any Act.

other Key legislation impaCting on 
ChemCentre’s aCtivities

in the performance of its functions, ChemCentre 
complies with the following relevant written laws:
Auditor general Act 2006;
Contaminated Sites Act 2003;
disability Services Act 1993;
equal opportunity Act 1984;
financial management Act 2006;
freedom of information Act 1992;
industrial Relations Act 1979;
minimum Conditions of employment Act 1993;
occupational Safety and health Act 1984;
Public Sector management Act 1994;
Salaries and Allowances Act 1975;
State Records Act 2000; and
State Supply Commission Act 1991.

Operational Structure
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Performance Management Framework

outCome BASed mAnAgement fRAmewoRk
Broad, high level government goals are supported at agency level by more specific desired outcomes. 
Agencies deliver services to achieve these desired outcomes, contributing to the achievement of the 
higher level government goals. the relationship between the government goals, agency level desired 
outcomes and associated services is tabulated below.

ChemCentre’s effort is divided approximately 38% to services for government and 62% to fee-for-service 
activities, delivered to government and private sectors. 
 
goveRnment goAl deSiRed outCome outComeS

social and 
environmental 
responsibility. 
ensuring that economic 
activity is managed 
in a socially and 
environmentally 
responsible manner for 
the long term benefit of 
the state.

quality independent 
scientific advice, research 
and development, and 
an emergency response 
capability that support 
government and the 
wider community.

outcome 1. emergency response.
Special technical advice and support to 
government, other government agencies and 
industry in managing the risks arising from 
unmanaged chemical-biological-radiological 
releases delivered just in time.

outcome 2 & 3. scientific information and 
advice 
development and delivery of quality scientific 
information and advice, on a commercial 
basis, to government, industry and the 
community.

outcome 4. research and Development 
Project-based development of quality 
knowledge, know-how and/or intellectual 
property relevant to state development, 
public health and safety, or delivery of 
ChemCentre’s other services.

ChAngeS to outCome BASed mAnAgement fRAmewoRk
ChemCentre has added outcome 4 “Research & development” to its outcome Based management 
framework since 30 June 2009.

ShARed ReSPonSiBilitieS with otheR AgenCieS
ChemCentre’s emergency Response service is largely delivered in support of fire and emergency Services 
Authority, normally the controlling authority at such emergency events. ChemCentre also provides an 
extensive forensic science service to the wA Police and the office of the State Coroner.

Operational Structure
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Agency Performance – Report on Operations

the twelve months results to 30 June 2010 at ChemCentre reflect a more commercial focus than in 
previous years, brought about by an alteration in strategic direction following the change to a statutory 
authority on 1 August 2007. there have been significant increases in cost and revenue compared with 
budget mainly as a consequence of increased activity both in the government sector and the private 
sector.

FinanCial targets: aCtual perFormanCe CompareD to buDget targets
ChemCentre has a history of providing a specialist service to government, at a net cost to government. 
the results for the twelve months under review include removal expenses to new premises, increased 
rental costs and payroll tax not considered when the budget was prepared. in addition recurrent appro-
priations to cover the additional costs will not be received until the new financial year. the budget figures 
do not allow for the salary agreement for specialised callings, which has a significant effect on salaries 
for ChemCentre, impacting on the total cost and the service appropriations received from government. 
See Financial Overview on page 10 for more information and page 17 for comments on Budget statements for 
2009-10.

budget actual
total income  8,260,000 12,207,000
total Cost of Service 14,760,000 21,884,000
net Cost of Service  6,500,000  9,677,000
Service appropriation  6,900,000  7,816,000
Surplus/(deficit) before tax for period  400,000 (1,861,000)

Key perFormanCe inDiCators: aCtual perFormanCe CompareD to buDget targets
Key effectiveness indicators target achieved
Client satisfaction 79% 83%
emergency Response: Resolution time 4 hr 3 hr
Proficiency Rating 95% 94%
Aggregate value of ChemCentre Components 
(as a ratio of R & d sold to internal R & d) 50/50 49/51

Research & development Client Satisfaction 80% 78%

Key efficiency indicators
Service1: Average Cost/hour $135 $210
Service 2: Average Cost/hour $160 $223
Service 3:Average Cost/hour $175 $298

Performance information relating to the services provided is presented at pages 46 to 49 of this report.

Agency Performance 
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Significant Issues and Trends

strategiC issues anD trenDs

CommeRCiAliSAtion
ChemCentre aims to be commercially sustainable 
and ensure a return to the wA government, 
without compromising its commitments to the 
wA community. to achieve this, ChemCentre must 
expand and develop its markets, locally, nationally 
and internationally.

the major transformations required for commercial 
sustainability are:
• ChemCentre will become more commercially 

aware and focussed – whilst the western 
Australian government and its agencies will 
remain key clients, ChemCentre will investigate 
and develop new profitable markets on local, 
national and international scales.

• ChemCentre will have a small number of core 
areas in which it is recognised as a world leader 
– continuing to offer the spectrum of current 
services, recognition for ChemCentre will be 
developed through the provision of leading 
edge services in a small number of core areas, 
nationally and internationally.

• ChemCentre’s customer base will change – the 
modern ease of transport of samples and the 
electronic supply of results avoids the need for 
new physical locations, whilst accessing new 
client groups.

• ChemCentre will be a larger organisation 
with higher revenue – although some staffing 
increases may be required to meet increased 
client demand, ChemCentre will immediately 
investigate using existing staff and resources 
more effectively, including leveraging current 
relationships and opportunities resulting from 
the new Bentley location.

Associated issues with the move towards 
commercialisation include:
• A current lack of cash reserves means the 

expansion and development of markets is 
difficult, and ChemCentre must investigate 
other options using existing staffing and 
resources.

• ChemCentre currently employs staff in accord 

with the Public Sector management Act 
1994 and is not able to financially reward 
staff performance, and has less flexibility in 
employment conditions.

ReSeARCh And 
develoPment, 
eduCAtion And 
tRAining ACtivitieS
the Chemistry 
Centre (WA) Act 
2007 requires 
ChemCentre 
‘to promote, 
and assist in 
the provision of, 
chemistry based 
education and training 
and fundamental and 
applied research and 
development’. whilst 
ChemCentre staff have 
performed a wide range 
of activities that fit within 
this definition, the coming 
financial year will require 
the organisation to assess the demands and value 
of these activities against the responsibilities 
outlined in the Act and other commercial 
opportunities.

FinanCial issues anD trenDs

tRAnSition to A StAtutoRy AuthoRity 
StRuCtuRe
when ChemCentre became a statutory authority in 
2007, two key financial issues were not considered 
in the forward estimates – the national tax 
equivalent Regime, (nteR), and the payment of 
Payroll tax. funds appropriated for the relocation 
of ChemCentre were not paid out in the 2008-2009 
financial year, and were carried over, leading to 
ChemCentre making a taxable profit under the 
nteR for the year ended 30 June 2009. 

ReloCAtion And new PRemiSeS
Appropriations for additional rent and outgoing 
from the expected move to ChemCentre’s new 
premises in the Resources and Chemistry Precinct 

Significant Issues and Trends

Emergency Response 
scientists explain chemical 
crises equipment at Curtin 

University’s Open Day.
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in Bentley were not paid until the actual move in 
September 2009. 

Budget StAtementS 2009-10
ChemCentre’s published budgets and forward 
estimates do not reflect the revised budgets that 
appear in its Strategic development Plan (SdP) 
and Statement of Corporate intent (SCi), or current 
trading conditions. ChemCentre’s published 
budgets and forward estimates are based on 
the 2007 mid term Review and subsequent 
minor revisions. in november 2009 it was agreed 
with treasury that ChemCentre would submit 
“Revised Budgets” as part of its SCi and SdP and 
the revised budgets would be used to update 
the published budget estimates for revenue 
projections and include costs not considered 
when the ChemCentre Approved Budgets were 
first prepared in 2007. these costs include, but are 
not limited to, Payroll tax and income tax payable 
under the nteR. ChemCentre’s revenue streams 
and services have increased significantly since the 
approved budgets were prepared in 2007, while 
the published Budget papers show a decrease 
in budget revenues over the actual results for 
2008/09 along with inconsistencies compared with 
actual costs for 2008/09.

ASSet inveStment PlAn
the appropriation disbursement profile included 
$600 000 annually for asset replacement which is 
almost half the current annual asset depreciation. 
ChemCentre has submitted an Asset investment 
Plan which is expected to result in an increase of 
$600 000 in the asset replacement appropriation 
from the year ending 30 June 2011. 

operational issues anD trenDs

ReloCAtion And new PRemiSeS
ChemCentre began its move from its previous east 
Perth premises to the Resources and Chemistry 
Precinct in Bentley in September 2009. the move 
was effectively completed in october 2009. the 
multi-million dollar development, with purpose-
built laboratory and storage spaces, is a marked 
improvement in facilities and a safer working 
environment.

however, when the 
building was designed, 
ChemCentre had 
approximately 80 
fte employees. in 
the 2009-2010 
financial year, 
this number 
increased 
to 116 fte 
employees. 
this reflects 
the significant 
new business 
ChemCentre 
has attracted in 
recent years. whilst 
laboratory space is 
currently sufficient for 
increased throughput, there 
is considerable pressure on 
office accommodation.

therefore, any increase in the number of 
employees at ChemCentre will need to be carefully 
managed to address this issue.

the new premises, co-located with Curtin 
university of technology’s department of 
Chemistry, adjacent to the Australian minerals 
Research Centre also offer new opportunities 
for collaboration and the provision of analytical 
services, which will continue to develop over the 
coming years.

lease payments and outgoings on the new 
premises have resulted in a major spending 
change, reflected in the published estimates.

deliveRy of ChemiCAl-BiologiCAl-
RAdiologiCAl (CBR) ReSPonSe SeRviCeS
in may 2010, ChemCentre management, along 
with staff involved in the delivery of CBR response 
services, met to discuss the current model of 
CBR response and possible adjustments to this 
model for enhanced efficiency and better use of 
resources.

Significant Issues and Trends

ChemCentre scientists 
celebrate the relocation to 

new facilities at ChemCentre’s 
official opening.
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when attending a possible CBR or hazardous 
materials incident, ChemCentre staff members are 
required to provide expert knowledge and advice 
relating to the situation, as well as perform onsite 
analysis to verify any initial identification. this is 
then followed by laboratory-based analysis.

in order to maintain the quality of these services, 
ChemCentre must address key issues internally, 
including identifying training and knowledge 
gaps, succession planning and flexibility of staff 
and role responsibilities. it must also strengthen 
relationships with lead organisations such as the 
wA Police and the fire and emergency Services 
Authority, to ensure cohesive working relationships 
and the best possible delivery of service.

enviRonmentAl ChemiStRy And the 
eSPeRAnCe CleAnuP And ReCoveRy PRogRAm
the environmental Chemistry section has been 
responsible for the analysis of pre- and post-clean 
up samples from the esperance Cleanup and 
Recovery Program (eCRP) since the program first 

began. Sample numbers increased across the past 
financial year and have reached a peak towards 
the end of the 2009-2010 financial year. As the 
program draws to a close, sampling and testing 
requirements will begin to decrease, requiring the 
section to balance staffing and resources with a 

possible change in workload.

ClAndeStine dRug lABoRAtoRieS
ChemCentre’s dedicated team of clandestine 
drug laboratory (‘clan lab’) scientists works 

alongside wA Police to assess, process and 
dismantle clan labs throughout western 

Australia. in the 2009 calendar year, 124 clan 
labs were uncovered, as compared to 25 clan labs 

in the 2008 calendar year. Between January 2010 
and June 2010, 60 clan labs had been uncovered 
and processed. A continuing increase in clan 
lab numbers will place significant pressure on 
ChemCentre scientists and resources, and may 
require further negotiations with wA Police to 
increase revenue.

Changes in Written laW

there were no changes in written law impacting 
upon ChemCentre in the 2009-10 period.

Significant Issues and Trends

Forensic Scientists from 
ChemCentre discuss oral fluid 
drug testing methods for the 

resources industry.

‘Clan lab’ and Emergency 
Response chemists prepare for 
a training exercise with other 

State authorities.
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FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

CertiFiCation oF FinanCial statements
the accompanying financial statements of ChemCentre have been prepared in compliance with the 
provisions of the financial Management Act 2006 from proper accounts and records to present fairly the 
financial transactions for the financial year ended 30th June 2010 and the financial position as at 30th 
June 2010.

At the date of signing we are not aware of any circumstances which would render any particulars 
included in the financial statements misleading or inaccurate.

Certification of Financial Statements

mr Ross Blakey
director Business and Corporate Services
date: 10th September 2010

mr Peter millington
Chief executive officer
date: 10th September 2010

dr John farrow
member of governing Board
date: 10th September 2010

mr david mcAuliffe
member of governing Board
date: 10th September 2010
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note 2010 2009
$000 $000

inCome    

revenue    

Provision of Services 7 12,200 10,666

other revenue 8 7 2

total income  12,207 10,668

    

exPenSeS    

expenses    

employee benefits expense 9 10,861 8,847

Supplies and services 10 1,402 1,662

depreciation and amortisation expense 11 1,114 1,003

Accommodation expenses 12 4,564 655

other expenses 13 3,943 2,555

    

total expenses  21,884 14,722

    

loss before service appropriation  (9,677) (4,054)

    

Service appropriation 14 7,816 6,464

(loss)/Profit before income tax equivalent expense  (1,861) 2,410

deferred income tax Benefit 32(a)  306 (1,163)

(loss)/Profit after income tax equivalent expense  (1,555) 1,247

    

(loss)/profit for the period  (1,555) 1,247

the Statement of Comprehensive income should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Comprehensive Income
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note 2010 2009

$000 $000

ASSetS    

Current assets    

Cash and cash equivalents 27(a) 1,644 3,791

Prepayments 16 134 84

Receivables 15 2,381 1,715

Amounts receivable for services 17 628 600

    

total Current assets  4,787 6,190

    

non-Current assets    

Restricted cash and cash equivalents 18 81 81

Property, plant and equipment 19 3,235 3,403

intangible assets 20 690 775

Sinking fund 21 207 0

deferred tax asset 32(d) 909 603

    

total non-Current assets  5,122 4,862

    

totAl ASSetS  9,909 11,052

    

liABilitieS    

Current liabilities    

Payables 23 1,971 1,794

Provisions 24 1,921 1,376

other current liabilities 25 1,005 1,220

Current tax liabilities 32 1,148 1,326

total Current liabilities  6,045 5,716

    

non-Current liabilities    

Provisions 24 548 465

deferred tax liability 32 19 19

total non-Current liabilities  567 484

    

totAl liABilitieS  6,612 6,200

    

net ASSetS  3,297 4,852

    

equity    

Contributed equity 26 3,653 3,653

Retained earnings  (356) 1,199

    

total eQuity  3,297 4,852

the Statement of financial Position should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Financial Position
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note 2010 2009

$000 $000

balance of equity at start of period  4,852 3,410

    

ContributeD eQuity 26   

Balance at start of period  3,653 3,458

Capital contribution  - 195

Balance at end of period  3,653 3,653

    

    

retaineD earnings    

Balance of retained earnings at start of period  1,199 (48)

    

(loss)/Profit for the period  (1,555) 1,247

Balance at end of period  (356) 1,199

  

balance of equity at end of period  3,297 4,852

    

total (loss)/income and expense for the period  (1,555) 1,247

    

the Statement of Changes in equity should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Changes in Equity
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note 2010 2009

$000 $000

CASh flowS fRom oPeRAting ACtivitieS    

receipts    

Provision of services  10,115 8,997

gSt receipts on services  1,211 899

    

payments    

employee benefits  (10,233) (8,439)

Accommodation  (4,712) (329)

gSt payments on purchases  (965) (324)

gSt payments to taxation authority  (246) (592)

other payments  (4,185) (2,317)

    

net cash used in operating activities 27 (9,015) (2,105)

    

CASh flowS fRom inveSting ACtivitieS    

    

Purchase of non-current physical assets  (861) (1,762)

    

net cash used in investing activities  (861) (1,762)

    

CASh flowS fRom StAte goveRnment    

Service appropriation  7,729 6,141

net cash provided by state government  7,729 6,141

    

net increase/(decrease) in cash and cash equivalents  (2,147) 2,274

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of period  3,791 1,517

Cash anD Cash eQuivalent assets at the enD oF 
perioD

 1,644 3,791

   

the Statement of Cash flows should be read in conjunction with the accompanying notes.

Statement of Cash Flows
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Notes to the Financial Statements
1. AuStRAliAn equivAlentS to inteRnAtionAl finAnCiAl RePoRting StAndARdS

general 
ChemCentre’s financial statements for the year ended 30 June 2010 have been prepared in accordance with Australian 
equivalents to international financial Reporting Standards (AifRS), which comprise a framework for the Preparation and 
Presentation of financial Statements (the framework) and Australian Accounting Standards (including the Australian 
Accounting interpretations). 

in preparing these financial statements ChemCentre has adopted, where relevant to its operations, new and revised Standards 
and interpretations from their operative dates as issued by the AASB and formerly the urgent issues group (uig).

early adoption of standards
ChemCentre cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or interpretation unless specifically permitted by ti 
1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and other Pronouncements’. no Australian Accounting Standards and 
interpretations that have been issued or amended but are not yet effective have been early adopted by ChemCentre for the 
annual reporting period ended 30 June 2010.

2. SummARy of SignifiCAnt ACCounting PoliCieS

(a) general statement
the financial statements constitute a general purpose financial report which has been prepared in accordance with 
the Australian Accounting Standards, the framework, Statements of Accounting Concepts and other authoritative 
pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board as applied by the treasurer’s instructions. Several of these are 
modified by the treasurer’s instructions to vary application, disclosure, format and wording. 

the financial management Act and the treasurer’s instructions are legislative provisions governing the preparation of 
financial statements and take precedence over the Accounting Standards, the framework, Statements of Accounting 
Concepts and other authoritative pronouncements of the Australian Accounting Standards Board.

where modification is required and has a material or significant financial effect upon the reported results, details of that 
modification and the resulting financial effect are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. 

(b) basis of preparation
the financial statements have been prepared on the accrual basis of accounting using the historical cost convention.

the accounting policies adopted in the preparation of the financial statements have been consistently applied throughout all 
periods presented unless otherwise stated.

the financial report is presented in Australian dollars and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand dollars ($’000).

the initial application of Australian Accounting Standards that have been used in the process of applying accounting policies 
in the financial statements are included at note 5 initial Application of Australian Accounting Standards.

the key assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the balance sheet date 
that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next 
financial year are included at note 4 ‘key sources of estimation uncertainty’.

(c) Contributed equity
AASB interpretation 1038 ‘Contribution by owners made to wholly owned Public Sector entities’ requires transfers, other 
than the result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, in the nature of equity contributions to be designated by 
the government (the owner) as contributions by the owners (at the time of, or prior to transfer) before such transfers can be 
recognised as equity contributions. Capital contributions (appropriations) have been designated as contributions by owners 
by treasury instruction (ti) 955 ‘Contributions by owners made to wholly owned Public Sector entities’ and have been 
credited directly to Contributed equity.

transfers of net assets to/from other agencies, other than as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements, are 
designated as contributions by owners where the transfers are non-discretionary and non- reciprocal. See note 26 ‘equity’.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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transfers of net assets to/from other agencies as a result of a restructure of administrative arrangements are accounted for as 
distributions to owners and contributions by owners respectively. Refer to note 26 ‘equity’.

(d) reporting entity
the reporting entity comprises the Chemistry Centre (wA) referred to as ChemCentre. there are no Related Bodies. See note 
34 ‘Related Bodies’.

(e) income
revenue recognition
Revenue is measured at the fair value of consideration received or receivable. Revenue is recognised for the major business 
activities as follows:

rendering of services
Revenue is recognised on delivery of the service to the client or by reference to the stage of completion of the transaction.

service appropriations
Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. the appropriation revenue comprises 
a cash component and a receivable (asset). the receivable holding account comprises the depreciation expense for the period 
and any agreed increase in leave liability during the period

grants, donations, gifts and other non-reciprocal contributions 
Revenue is recognised at fair value when ChemCentre obtains control over the assets comprising the contributions, usually 
when cash is received.

other non-reciprocal contributions that are not contributions by owners are recognised at their fair value. Contributions of 
services are only recognised when a fair value can be reliably determined and the services would be purchased if not donated.

where contributions are recognised as revenues during the reporting period and were obtained on the condition that they be 
expended in a particular manner or used over a particular period, and those conditions were undischarged as at the balance 
sheet date, the nature of, and amounts pertaining to, those undischarged conditions are disclosed in the notes as Revenue in 
Advance. See note 25.

gains
gains may be realised or unrealised and are usually recognised on a net basis. these include gains arising on the disposal of 
non current assets.

(f) income tax
ChemCentre operates within the national tax equivalent Regime (“nteR”) whereby an equivalent amount in respect of 
income tax is payable to the wA treasury. the calculation of the liability in respect of income tax is governed by nteR 
guidelines and directions approved by government.

As a consequence of participation in the nteR, ChemCentre is required to comply with AASB 112 ‘income taxes’.
the income tax expense or revenue for the period is the tax payable on the current period’s taxable income adjusted by 
changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities attributable to temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and 
liabilities and their carrying amounts in the financial statements, and to unused tax losses.

deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognised for temporary differences at the tax rate expected to apply when the assets 
are recovered or liabilities settled, based on those tax rates which are enacted or substantively enacted. the relevant tax rates 
are applied to the cumulative amounts of deductible and taxable temporary differences to measure the deferred tax asset or 
liability. An exception is made for certain temporary differences arising from the initial recognition of an asset or liability. no 
deferred tax asset or liability is recognised in relation to these temporary differences if they arose in a transaction, other than a 
business combination, that at the time of the transaction did not affect either accounting profit or taxable profit or loss.

deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible temporary differences and unused tax losses only if it is probable that future 
taxable amounts will be available to utilise those temporary differences and losses.
Current and deferred tax balances attributable to amounts recognised directly in equity are also recognised directly in equity.

Notes to the Financial Statements
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(g) property, plant and equipment and infrastructure
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
items of property, plant and equipment costing $400 or more are recognised as assets and the cost of utilising assets is 
expensed (depreciated) over their useful lives. items of property, plant and equipment and infrastructure costing under $400 
are capitalised only if they form part of a group of similar items which are significant in total. otherwise they are expensed 
direct to the income Statement.

initial recognition and measurement
All items of property, plant and equipment are initially recognised at cost.

for items of property, plant and equipment acquired at no cost or for nominal cost, cost is their fair value at the date of 
acquisition.

subsequent measurement
After recognition as an asset, ChemCentre uses the cost model for all property, plant and equipment. All items of property, 
plant and equipment are carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.

Depreciation
All non-current assets having a limited useful life are systematically depreciated over their estimated useful lives in a manner 
that reflects the consumption of their future economic benefits.

depreciation on assets is calculated using the straight line method, using rates which are reviewed annually. estimated useful 
lives for each class of depreciable asset are:

 Plant and equipment  5 to 7 years
 office equipment  5 years
 Software(a)   2.5 to 3 years
 motor vehicles   3 to 7 years

(a) Software that is integral to the operation of related hardware. 

(h) intangible assets
Capitalisation/expensing of assets
Acquisitions of intangible assets costing $400 or more and internally generated intangible assets costing $50,000 or more are 
capitalised. the cost of utilising the assets is expensed (amortised) over their useful life. Costs incurred of less than $400 are 
immediately expensed directly to the income Statement.

All acquired and internally developed intangible assets are initially measured at cost. for assets acquired at no cost or for 
nominal cost, cost is their fair value at the date of acquisition.

the cost model is applied for subsequent measurement requiring the asset to be carried at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and accumulated impairment losses.

Amortisation for intangible assets with finite useful lives is calculated for the period of the expected benefit (estimated useful 
life) on the straight line basis using rates which are reviewed annually. All intangible assets controlled by ChemCentre have a 
finite useful life and zero residual value. the expected useful lives for each class of intangible asset are:

 Software(a)   3 to 5 years

(a) Software that is not integral to the operation of any related hardware.

Computer software
Software that is an integral part of the related hardware is treated as property, plant and equipment. Software that is not an 
integral part of the related hardware is treated as an intangible asset. Software costing less than $400 is expensed in the year 
of acquisition.

Website Costs
website costs are charged as expenses when they are incurred unless they relate to the acquisition or development of an asset 
when they may be capitalised and amortised. generally, costs in relation to feasibility studies during the planned phase of a 
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website, and ongoing costs of maintenance during the operating phase are expensed. Costs incurred in building or enhancing 
a website, to the extent that they represent probable future economic benefits that can be reliably measured, are capitalised.

(i) research and development costs
Research costs are expensed as incurred. development costs incurred for an individual project are carried forward when the 
future recoverability can reasonably be regarded as assured and the total project costs are likely to exceed $50,000. other 
development costs are expensed as incurred.

(j) impairment of assets
Property, plant and equipment, infrastructure and intangible assets are tested for any indication of impairment at each 
balance sheet date. where there is an indication of impairment, the recoverable amount is estimated. where the recoverable 
amount is less than the carrying amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to the recoverable amount 
and an impairment loss is recognised. As ChemCentre is a not for profit entity, unless an asset has been identified as a surplus 
asset, the recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and depreciated replacement cost.

the risk of impairment is generally limited to circumstances where an asset’s depreciation is materially understated, where the 
replacement cost is falling or where there is a significant change in useful life. each relevant class of assets is reviewed annually 
to verify that the accumulated depreciation/amortisation reflects the level of consumption or expiration of asset’s future 
economic benefits and to evaluate any impairment risk from falling replacement costs.

intangible assets with an indefinite useful life and intangible assets not yet available for use are tested for impairment at each 
balance sheet date irrespective of whether there is any indication of impairment. 

the recoverable amount of assets identified as surplus assets is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and the present 
value of future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset. Surplus assets carried at fair value have no risk of material 
impairment where fair value is determined by reference to market-based evidence. where fair value is determined by 
reference to depreciated replacement cost, surplus assets are at risk of impairment and the recoverable amount is measured. 
Surplus assets at cost are tested for indications of impairment at each balance sheet date.

See note 22 ‘impairment of assets’ for the outcome of impairment reviews and testing.
See note 2(o) ‘Receivables’ and note 15 ‘Receivables’ for impairment of receivables.

(k) leases 
ChemCentre currently holds operating leases (see note 29). lease payments are expensed on a straight line basis over the 
lease term as this represents the pattern of benefits derived from the leased properties.

(l) Financial instruments
in addition to cash and cash equivalents, ChemCentre has two categories of financial instrument:
• loans and Receivables; 
• financial liabilities measured at amortised cost.

these have been disaggregated into the following classes:

financial Assets
• Cash and cash equivalents
• Receivables
• Amounts receivable for services

financial liabilities
• Payables

initial recognition and measurement is at fair value. the transaction cost or face value is equivalent to the fair value. 
Subsequent measurement is at amortised cost using the effective interest method.

the fair value of short-term receivables and payables is the transaction cost or the face value because there is no interest rate 
applicable and subsequent measurement is not required as the effect of discounting is not material.

(m) Cash and Cash equivalents
for the purposes of the Cash flow Statement, cash and cash equivalents includes restricted cash and cash equivalents. these 
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includes cash on hand and short-term deposits with original maturities of three months or less that are readily convertible to a 
known amount of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value.

(n) inventories
ChemCentre adopts a “Just in time” system of purchasing and since 1 April 2009 has expensed all purchases on receipt. in the 
previous year inventories were measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Costs were assigned by the method 
most appropriate to each particular class of inventory, with the majority being valued on a first in first out basis. inventories 
not held for resale were valued at cost unless they were no longer required, in which case they were valued at net realisable 
value. 

(o) receivables
Receivables are recognised and carried at original invoice amount less an allowance for any uncollectible amounts (i.e. 
impairment). the collectability of receivables is reviewed on an ongoing basis and any receivables identified as uncollectible 
are written off against the allowance account. the allowance for uncollectible amounts (doubtful debts) is raised when there is 
objective evidence that ChemCentre will not be able to collect its debts. the carrying amount is equivalent to fair value as it is 
due for settlement within 30 days. See note 2(l) ‘financial instruments’ and note 15 ‘Receivables’.

(p) payables
Payables are recognised when ChemCentre becomes obliged to make future payments as a result of a purchase of assets or 
services at the amounts payable. the carrying amount is equivalent to fair value, as they are generally settled within 30 days. 
See note 2(l) ‘financial instruments and note 23 ‘Payables’. 

(q) provisions
Provisions are liabilities of uncertain timing and amount and are recognised where there is a present legal or constructive 
obligation as a result of a past event and when the outflow of resources embodying economic benefits is probable and a 
reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Provisions are reviewed at each balance sheet date. See note 
24‘Provisions’.

(i) Provisions - Employee Benefits
annual leave and long service leave
the liability for annual and long service leave expected to be settled within 12 months after the balance sheet date is 
recognised and measured at the undiscounted amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. Annual 
and long service leave expected to be settled more than 12 months after the balance sheet date is measured at the 
present value of amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. leave liabilities are in respect of services 
provided by employees up to the balance sheet date.

when assessing expected future payments consideration is given to expected future wage and salary levels including 
non salary components such as employer superannuation contributions. in addition, the long service leave liability also 
considers the experience of employee departures and periods of service.

the expected future payments are discounted to present value using market yields at the balance sheet date on 
national government bonds with terms to maturity that match, as closely as possible, the estimated future cash 
outflows.

All annual leave and unconditional long service leave provisions are classified as current liabilities as ChemCentre does 
not have an unconditional right to defer settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

purchased leave
the provision for purchased leave relates to Public Service employees who have entered into an agreement to self-
fund up to an additional four weeks leave per calendar year. the provision recognises the value of salary set aside for 
employees and is measured at the nominal amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. this liability is 
measured on the same basis as annual leave.

superannuation
the government employees Superannuation Board (geSB) in accordance with legislative requirements administers 
public sector superannuation arrangements in western Australia.

employees may contribute to the Pension Scheme, a defined benefit pension scheme now closed to new members, or 
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to the gold State Superannuation Scheme (gSS), a defined benefit lump sum scheme also closed to new members. 

ChemCentre has no liabilities under the Pension or gSS Schemes. the liabilities for the unfunded Pension and gSS 
Schemes transfer benefits due to members who transferred from the Pension Scheme are assumed by the treasurer. 
All other gSS Scheme obligations are funded by concurrent contributions made by ChemCentre to the geSB. the 
concurrently funded part of the gSS Scheme is a defined contribution scheme as these contributions extinguish all 
liabilities in respect of the concurrently funded gSS Scheme obligations.

employees commencing employment prior to 16 April 2007 who were not members of either the Pension or the 
gSS Schemes became non-contributory members of the west State Superannuation Scheme (wSS). employees 
commencing employment on or after 16 April 2007 became members of the geSB Super Scheme (geSBS). Both 
of these schemes are accumulation schemes. ChemCentre makes concurrent contributions to geSB on behalf of 
employees in compliance with the Commonwealth government’s Superannuation guarantee (Administration) 
Act 1992. these contributions extinguish the liability for superannuation charges in respect of the wSS and geSBS 
Schemes.

the geSB makes all benefit payments in respect of the Pension and gSS Schemes, and is recouped by the treasurer for 
the employer’s share.

See also note 2(r) ‘Superannuation expense’.

(ii) Provisions - Other
employment on Costs
employment on-costs, including workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax, are not employee benefits and are 
recognised separately as liabilities and expenses when the employment to which they relate has occurred. employment 
on-costs are not included as part of ChemCentre’s ‘employee benefits expense’ and the related liability is included in 
employment on-costs provision. See note 13 ‘Other expenses’ and note 24 ‘Provisions’.

(r) superannuation expense
the superannuation expense in the Statement of Comprehensive income comprises employer contribution paid to the gSS 
(concurrent contributions), the west State Superannuation Scheme (wSS), and the geSB Super Scheme (geSBS).

the gSS Scheme is a defined benefit scheme for the purposes of employees and whole-of-government reporting. however, 
apart from the transfer benefit, it is a defined contribution plan for agency purposes because the concurrent contributions 
(defined contributions) made by the agency to geSB extinguishes the agency’s obligations to the related superannuation 
liability.

See also note 2(q) ‘Provisions – employee Benefits’ under Superannuation.

(s) accrued salaries
Accrued Salaries represent the amount due to staff but unpaid at the end of the financial year. Accrued salaries are settled 
soon after the financial year end. ChemCentre considers the carrying amount of accrued salaries to be equivalent to the net 
fair value. (refer note 24 ‘Provisions’)

the accrued salaries suspense account (see note 18 ‘Restricted Cash and Cash equivalents’) consists of amounts paid annually 
into a suspense account over a period of 10 years to largely meet the additional cash flow in each eleventh year when 27 pay 
days occur instead of the normal 26. no interest is received on this account.

(t) amounts receivable for services (holding account)
ChemCentre receives appropriation funding on an accrual basis that recognises the full annual cash and non cash cost of 
services. the appropriations are paid partly in cash and partly as an asset that is accessible on the emergence of the cash 
funding requirement to cover items such as leave entitlements and asset replacement.

(u) resources received Free of Charge or for nominal Cost
Resources received free of charge or for nominal cost that can be reliably measured are recognised as income and as assets or 
expenses as appropriate at fair value.

(v) segment information 
Segment information has been disclosed by service (refer note 39 ‘Schedule of Income and Expenses by Service’).
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(w) Comparative Figures
 Comparative figures are, where appropriate, reclassified to be comparable with the figures presented in the current financial 
year.

3. JudgementS mAde By mAnAgement in APPlying ACCounting PoliCieS

the preparation of financial statements requires management to make judgements about the application of accounting 
policies that have a significant effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements. ChemCentre evaluates these 
Judgements regularly.

operating lease commitments

ChemCentre has entered into a number of leases for motor vehicles and a property lease. it has been determined that the 
lessor retains substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. Accordingly, these leases have been classified as 
operating leases.

4. key SouRCeS of eStimAtion unCeRtAinty

the key estimates and assumptions made concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the 
balance sheet date that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities 
within the next financial year include:

• discount rates used in estimating provisions for lSl;
• estimating useful life and residual values of key assets and intangible assets;
• long service leave – retention rates and discount rates.

5. initiAl APPliCAtion of AuStRAliAn ACCounting StAndARdS

ChemCentre has applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting interpretations effective 
for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 July 2009 that impacted on ChemCentre:

1. AASB 101 ‘Presentation of financial Statements (September 2007). this standard has been revised and introduces a 
number of terminology changes as well as well as changes to the structure of the statement of Changes in equity and the 
Statement of Comprehensive income. it is now a requirement that owner changes in equity be presented separately from 
non-owner changes in equity. there is no financial impact resulting from the application of this revised Standard.

2. AASB 2007-10 ‘further Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 101. this standard changes 
the term ‘general purpose financial report’ to ‘general purpose financial statements’, where appropriate in Australian 
Accounting Standards and the framework to better align with ifRS terminology. there is no financial impact resulting 
from the application of this Standard.

6. futuRe imPACt of AuStRAliAn ACCounting StAndARdS not yet oPeRAtive

ChemCentre cannot early adopt an Australian Accounting Standard or Australian Accounting interpretation unless specifically 
permitted by ti 1101 ‘Application of Australian Accounting Standards and other Pronouncements’. Consequently, ChemCentre 
has not applied the following Australian Accounting Standards and Australian Accounting interpretations that have been 
issued and which may impact ChemCentre but are not yet effective. where applicable, ChemCentre’s plans to apply these 
Standards and interpretations from their application date:

title operative for reporting periods 
beginning on/after

 AASB 2009-11 ‘Amendments to Australian Accounting Standards arising from AASB 9 
[AASB 1, 3, 4, 5, 7, 101, 102, 108, 112, 118, 121, 127, 128, 131, 132, 136, 139, 1023& 1038 
and interpretations 10 & 12].

the amendment to AASB 7 requires modification to the disclosure of categories of finan-
cial assets. the Authority does not expect any financial impact when the Standard is first 
applied. the disclosure of categories of financial assets in the notes will change.

1 January 2013
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2010 2009

$000 $000

7. PRoviSion of SeRviCeS   

Private Sector 4,044 5,039

State government Sector 8,156 5,627

   

ChemCentre invoices clients on a fee for service basis for work performed. the 
clients are organizations in the Private Sector and western Australian State 
government Agencies.

12,200 10,666

8. otheR Revenue   

Salary Packaging recoveries 7 2

 7 2

9. emPloyee BenefitS exPenSe

wages and salaries(a) 8,563 6,938

Superannuation – defined contribution plans 863 697

long service leave(b) 511 846

Annual leave(b) 924 366

   

 10,861 8,847

(a) includes the value of the fringe benefit to the employee plus the fringe benefits tax component.

(b) includes a superannuation contribution component.

Employment on-costs such as workers’ compensation insurance and payroll tax are included at note 13 ‘Other Expenses’. The 
employment on-costs liability is included at note 24 ‘Provisions’.

10. SuPPlieS And SeRviCeS   

   

Communications 15 23

Consumables 1,120 1,264

materials 160 203

travel 107 172

   

 1,402 1,662

11. dePReCiAtion And AmoRtiSAtion exPenSe

Depreciation   

Plant, equipment and vehicles 846 792

office equipment 88 117

   

 934 909

amortisation   

Software 180 94

total depreciation and amortisation 1,114 1,003
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2010 2009

$000 $000

12. Accommodation expenses

Property rent 3,610 326

Property outgoings 684 -

Repairs and maintenance 192 102

utilities 78 227

   

 4,564 655

13. other expenses

equipment repairs and maintenance 597 325

it & network maintenance 222 204

laboratory & dmP Services 806 530

Postage, Printing and Stationery 96 74

Payments to Cooperative Research Centres 188 195

motor vehicles 94 69

doubtful debts 30 (2)

Payroll tax 541 813

Consultant fees 251 71

 Relocation Costs 295 -

Staff training and miscellaneous staff expenses 296 76

other minor expenses 527 200

3,943 2,555

 14. Service Appropriation

Appropriation received during the period   

Service Appropriation(a) 7,757 6,138

Resources received free of charge(b) 59 326

   

 7,816 6,464

(a) Service appropriations are accrual amounts reflecting the net cost of services delivered. the appropriation revenue 
comprises a cash component and a receivable (asset). the receivable holding account comprises the depreciation expense 
for the year and any agreed increase in leave liability during the year.

(b)  where assets or services have been received free of charge or for nominal cost, ChemCentre recognizes revenues 
equivalent to the fair value of the assets and/or the fair value of those services that can be reliably determined and which 
would have been purchased if not donated, and those fair values shall be recognized as assets or expenses, as applicable.  
the exception occurs where the contribution of assets or services are in the nature of contributions by owners, in which case 
ChemCentre makes the adjustment direct to equity.
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2010 2009

$000 $000

15. Receivables

Current   

Receivables trading 2,115 1,366

Receivables Sundry 235 349

gSt income tax Credits 96 61

Allowance for impairment of receivables (65) (61)

   

 2,381 1,715

Reconciliation of changes in the allowance for impairment of receivables:   

Balance at start of period (61) (72)

Amounts provided for during the period (31) 11

Amount recovered during the period  27 -

Balance at end of period (65) (61)

Credit risk

Ageing of receivables past due but not impaired based on the information provided to senior management, at the balance 
sheet date:

not more than 3 months 687 108

more than 3 months but less than 6 months 25 118

more than 6 months but less than 1 year 4 86

more than 1 year 58 138

   

   

Receivables individually determined as impaired at the balance sheet date:   

Carrying amount, before deducting any impairment loss 65 61

Provision for impairment loss  (65) (61)

 - -

included in the allowance for impairment of receivables, ChemCentre has some debtors the age of which places doubt on 
their recoverability. A general provision has been made against these debts. See also note 2(o) ‘Receivables’ and note 31 
‘financial instruments’.

16. Prepayments

Current   

moneys paid in advance for services to be performed 134 84

17. Amounts Receivable for Services

Current 628 600

Represents the non-cash component of Services appropriations. it is restricted in that it can only be used for asset 
replacement or payment of leave liability.

18. Restricted Cash and Cash equivalents

Accrued Salaries Suspense Account(a) 81  81

(a) Amount held in the suspense account and only to be used for the purposes of meeting the 27th payroll in financial years 
which occur every eleven years.

Notes to the Financial Statements



Annual Report 2009 - 2010   Page 34

2010 2009

$000 $000

19. Property, plant and equipment

Plant, equipment and vehicles   

At cost  10,305 9,602

Accumulated depreciation  (7,164) (6,317)

  3,141  3,285

   

office equipment   

At cost  700  685

Accumulated depreciation  (606)  (567)

  94  118

   

written down value of plant equipment and office equipment  3,235  3,403

Reconciliations of the carrying amounts of property, plant, 
equipment and vehicles at the beginning and end of the 
reporting period are set out below.

Plant, equipment 
and vehicles

$000

office equipment

$000

 total

$000

 

2009    

Carrying amount 1st July 2008 - - -

transfers 3,034 189 3,223

Additions 1,043 46 1,089

depreciation (792) (117) (909)

 

Carrying amount at end of year 3,285 118 3,403

    

2010    

Carrying amount 1st July 2009 3,285 118 3,403

Additions 703 65 768

disposals  - (51) (51)

depreciation (847) (38) (885)

    

Carrying amount at end of year 3,141 94 3,235
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2010 2009

$000 $000

20. intangible assets

laboratory information management Computer software development   

At cost 1,153 1,058

Accumulated amortisation (463) (283)

   

Carrying amount at end of year 690 775

   

Reconciliation   

   

Computer software   

opening Carrying amount 775 196

Additions 95 673

disposals  -

Amortisation expense (180) (94)

   

Carrying amount at end of year 690 775

   

21. Sinking fund   

   

Amount held by Curtin in trust for ChemCentre for future building repairs and 
maintenance.

207 -

   

22. impairment of assets   

there were no indications of impairment to Property, plant and equipment, and intangible assets at 30 June 2010. 
ChemCentre held no goodwill or intangible assets with an indefinite useful life during the reporting period and at balance 
sheet date there were no intangible assets not yet available for use. All surplus assets at 30 June 2010 have either been 
classified as non-current assets held for sale or written off.

23. Payables

Current   

trade payables 428 531

gSt Payable 146 104

Accrued expenses 1,385 1,118

Accrued Superannuation 12 41

   

 1,971 1,794

Notes to the Financial Statements



Annual Report 2009 - 2010   Page 36

2010 2009

$000 $000

24. Provisions   

Current   

employee benefits provision   

Annual leave(a) 1,051 719

long service leave(b) 870 657

   

 1,921 1,376

   

non-current   

long service leave(b) 548 465

(a) Annual leave liabilities have been classified as current as there is no unconditional right to defer settlement for at least 12 
months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as follows:

within 12 months of balance sheet date 713 593

more than 12 months after balance sheet date 338 126

   

 1,051 719

(b) long service leave liabilities have been classified as current where there is no unconditional right to defer settlement 
for at least 12 months after balance sheet date. Assessments indicate that actual settlement of the liabilities will occur as 
follows:

within 12 months of balance sheet date 548 605

more than 12 months after balance sheet date - 517

   

 548 1,122

the settlement of annual and long service leave liabilities gives rise to the payment of employment on-costs including 
workers’ compensation premiums and payroll tax. the provision is measured at the present value of expected future 
payments. the associated expense, apart from the unwinding of the discount (finance cost), is included at note 13 ‘other 
expenses’.

25. other liabilities

Current   

Revenue received in Advance 1,005 1,220

   

 1,005 1,220

Revenue in advance relates to funds received from clients in respect of work to be completed within the following 12 
months.
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2010 2009

$000 $000

26. equity   

   

Contributed equity   

Balance at the start of the period 4,852 3,458

  

Contributions by owners   

Capital Contribution  195

   

total Comprehensive income/(loss) for the year (1,555) 1,199

  

Balance at end of period 3,297 4,852

27. notes to the Cash flow Statement

(a) Reconciliation of cash 

Cash at the end of the financial year as shown in the Cash flow Statement is reconciled to the related items in the Balance 
Sheet as follows:

Cash held with Commonwealth Bank 1,643 3,790

Cash on hand 1 1

 1,644 3,791

(b) Reconciliation of profit after income tax equivalents to net cash flows provided by/(used in) operating activities

Profit after income tax equivalents (1,555) 1,247

   

non-cash items:   

depreciation and amortisation expense 1,114 1,003

Provision for doubtful debts 31 (11)

   

   

Service appropriation (7,757) (6,138)

Amounts (debited)/credited to provision for income tax equivalents (306) 1,163

   

(increase)/decrease in assets:   

Current receivables (697) (813)

Sinking fund (207) - 

Current inventories - 74

Amounts receivable for services and prepayments (50) (73)
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2010 2009

$000 $000

27. notes to the Cash flow Statement (continued)

increase/(decrease) in liabilities:   

Current Payables (61) (12)

Accrued expenses 267 1,112

Accrued Salaries (29) (117)

employee Benefits 628 408

Revenue in Advance (215) 52

Provision for tax (178) - 

net gSt receipts/(payments) 246 592

Change in gSt in receivables/payables (246) (592)

   

net cash (used in) operating activities (9,015) (2,105)

28. Resources provided free of charge

during the period the following resources were provided to other agencies free of charge for functions outside the normal 
operations of ChemCentre:

Rent accrued for costing purposes only 59 326

   

 59 326

no payment was made for rent at the east Perth premises.

29. lease Commitments

Commitments in relation to leases contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial 
statements are payable as follows:

within 1 year 5,273 -

later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 25,915  

later than 5 years 67,470 -

 98,658 -

   

Representing:   

non-Cancellable operating leases 98,658  -

ChemCentre moved to the Resources and Chemistry Precinct, Building 500 in Bentley on 8 September 2009. As at the date 
of this report Building management and works, on behalf of the minister for housing and works, continues to negotiate 
the final rent payment per annum with Curtin on behalf of ChemCentre based on the final building cost. included in non 
cancellable operating leases are rent payments to Curtin for 19 years and 69 days, being the remaining term of the lease. 
this amounts to $83 million for rent and management fee and $10.4 million for outgoings. the rent is subject to CPi 
increases.
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30. explanatory statement

this statement provides details of any significant variations between estimates and actual results for 2010. Significant 
variations are considered to be those greater than 10% or $50,000

Significant variances between estimate and actual results for the financial period

2010  
estimates

$000

2010 
Actual

$000
variation

$000

income (a) 8,260 12,207 3,947

employee Benefits(b) 6,987 10,861 (3,874)

Supplies and Services(c) 3,181 1,402 1,779

Accommodation expenses(d) 3,992 4,564 (572)

(a) income: exceeded budget due to greater commercial activity than estimated.

(b) employee Benefits: the increase reflects increases in staff compliment to achieve improved income figures. employee 
benefits include $507,000 for voluntary redundancies not included in the budget estimates.

(c) Supplies and Services: the decrease reflects inaccuracies in the budget estimates. See page 17 “Budget Statements” for 
more details.

(d) Accommodation expenses: forward estimates reflected a lower property rental cost following ChemCentre's move to 
new premises. See note 29.

Significant variances between actual and prior year actual – revenues and expenditures

2009  
Actual

$000

2010 
Actual

$000
variation

$000

income(a) 10,668 12,207 1,539

employee Benefits(b) 8,847 10,861 (2,014)

Supplies and Services(c) 1,662 1,402 260

(a) income: exceeded actual last year due to greater commercial activity and greater volume sales than previous year.

(b) employee Benefits: the increase reflects increases in staff compliment to achieve improved income figures plus 
incremental increases along with an increase awarded through the general Agreement. in addition employee benefits for 
the year ending 30 June 2010 include voluntary redundancy payments of $507,000 not included in the previous year.

(c) Supplies and Services: the decrease reflects a reduction in consumable resulting in part from a rundown in inventories.
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2010 2009

$000 $000

31. financial instruments disclosures

(a) financial Risk management objectives and Policies

financial instruments held by ChemCentre are cash and cash equivalents, treasurer’s advances and receivables and 
payables. ChemCentre has limited exposure to financial risks. ChemCentre’s overall risk management program focuses on 
managing the risks identified below.

Credit risk
Credit risk arises when there is the possibility of ChemCentre’s receivables defaulting on their contractual obligations 
resulting in financial loss to ChemCentre. ChemCentre measures credit risk on a fair value basis and monitors risk on a 
regular basis.
the maximum exposure to credit risk at balance sheet date in relation to each class of recognized financial assets is the 
gross carrying amount of those assets inclusive of any provisions for impairment. ChemCentre trades only with recognized, 
creditworthy third parties. ChemCentre has policies in place to ensure that sales of products and services are made to 
customers with an appropriate credit history. in addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing basis with the 
result that ChemCentre’s exposure to bad debts is minimal. there are no significant concentrations of credit risk.
Provision for impairment of financial assets is calculated based on objective evidence such as observable data indicating 
changes in client credit ratings. for financial assets that are either past due or impaired. Refer to Note 15 ‘Receivables’.

Liquidity risk
ChemCentre is exposed to liquidity risk through its trading in the normal course of business. liquidity risk arises when 
ChemCentre is unable to meet its financial obligations as they fall due.
ChemCentre has appropriate procedures to manage cash flows by monitoring forecast cash flows to ensure that sufficient 
funds are available to meet its commitments.

Market risk
ChemCentre has no exposure to market risk.

(b) Categories of financial instruments

in addition to cash and cash equivalents, the carrying amounts of each of the following categories of financial assets and 
financial liabilities at the balance sheet date are as follows:

Financial assets   

Cash and cash equivalents 1,644 3,791

   

loans and Receivables 2,381 1,715

Restricted Cash held for financial year with 27 payrolls 81 81

 held in accounts with the department of treasury and finance   

Financial liabilities   

financial liabilities measured at amortised cost (a) 1,971 1,794

(a) the amount of financial liabilities measured at amortised cost excludes gSt payable to the Ato (statutory receivable/
payable).

Interest rate risk
ChemCentre does not hold any interest bearing deposits or pay interest on any loans. therefore there is no interest rate risk.

Fair values
All financial assets and liabilities recognized in the balance sheet, whether they are carried at cost or fair value, are 
recognized at amounts that represent a reasonable approximation of fair value unless otherwise stated in the applicable 
notes.
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2010 2009

$000 $000

32. taxation equivalent

(a) income tax expense

Current income tax - 1,148

deferred tax (306) (101)

Prior year under/(over - 116

net Current and Deferred tax transferred to income statement (306) 1,163

(b) numerical reconciliation of income tax expense to prima facie tax 
payable

  

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalents (1,555) 2,410

   

tax effect of amounts which are not deductible in calculating taxable 
income:

  

notional Rent 60 -

Payroll tax Penalty 23 -

inventories - 74

Accounting depreciation on tax fixed assets incl R&d assets 1,114 1,003

net movement in provisions 630 436

Accrual not incurred 582 813

non-deductible pre transitional lSl payments 224 127

total Add back items 2,633 2,453

   

tax effect of amounts which are deductible in calculating taxable income:   

depreciation – tax (excluding R&d assets) (1,114) (1,003)

Reduction in Bad debts Provision - (11)

investment Allowance deduction - (23)

other deductible expenses free of charge (60) -

deductions (1,174) (1,037)

   

Assessable income (402) 3,826

income tax expected to be paid at Statutory Rate (30%) (121) 1,148

(c) Current tax liability   

opening balance as 1 July 2009 (1,326) (62)

Current tax - (1,148)

tax paid 178 -

under provision previous year -  (116)

Closing balance as 30 June 2010 (1,148)  (1,326)

   

(d) Deferred tax assets   

opening balance as 1 July 2009 603 483

Credited/(Charged) to income Statement 306 120

Closing balance as 30 June 2010 909 603
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2010 2009

$000 $000

(e) deferred tax liabilities   

opening Balance as 1 July 2009 (19) -

Accrued Salaries - (19)

Closing balance as 30 June 2010 (19) (19)

33. Remuneration of members of the accountable authority and Senior officers

remuneration of members of the accountable authority
the number of members of the accountable authority, whose total of fees, salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits 
and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$1 – $10,000 5 4

$10,001 – $20,000 2 2

the total remuneration of members of the accountable authority is: $78,427 $67,850 

the total remuneration includes the superannuation expense incurred by ChemCentre in respect of members of the 
accountable authority. no members of the accountable authority are members of the Pension Scheme.

remuneration of senior officers 
the number of senior officers, other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority, whose total fees, 
salaries, superannuation, non-monetary benefits and other benefits for the financial year, fall within the following bands are:

$140,001 – $150,000  3

$160,001 – $170,000 4  

$180,001 - $190,000  1

the total remuneration of senior officers is: $736,151 $615,000

the superannuation included here represents the superannuation expense incurred by ChemCentre in respect of senior 
officers other than senior officers reported as members of the accountable authority. no senior officers are members of the 
Pension Scheme.

34. Remuneration of auditor

Remuneration payable to the Auditor general for the financial period is as follows:

Auditing the accounts, financial statements and performance indicators 49 35

the expense is included at note 13 ‘other expenses’.

35. Related bodies

there are no related bodies.

36. Affiliated bodies

there are no affiliated bodies.

37. Special purpose accounts

there are no special purpose accounts.

38. Supplementary financial information

write-offs - -
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2010 2009

$000 $000

there was no public property written off by ChemCentre during the financial period

losses through theft, defaults and other Causes

losses of public money and public and other property through theft or default or 
amounts recovered.

- -

gifts of Public Property

gifts of public property provided by ChemCentre - -

Notes to the Financial Statements



Annual Report 2009 - 2010   Page 44

39. Schedule of income and expenses by Service

Service 1 
Scientific 

information 
and Advice

2009
$000

Service 2 
Research and 
development

2009
$000

Service 3 
emergency 

Response 
management

2009
$000

total

2009
$000

inCome     

Provision of services 7,828 858 1,980 10,666

other income 2 - - 2

     

total income 7,830 858 1,980 10,668

     

eXpenses     

employee benefits expense 6,564 658 1,625 8,847

Supplies and services 1,662 - - 1,662

depreciation and amortisation expense 1,003 - - 1,003

Accommodation expenses 655 - - 655

other expenses 2,000 200 355 2,555

total expenses 11,884 858 1,980 14,722

     

Profit/(loss) before service appropriation (4,054) - - (4,054)

     

net Appropriation from State government 6,464   6,464

profit/(loss) after service appropriation 2,410   2,410

profit/(loss) before income tax equivalents expense 2,410   2,410

income tax equivalent benefit/(expense) (1,163)   (1,163)

profit/(loss) for the period 1,247   1,247
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39. Schedule of income and expenses by Service (continued)

Service 1 
Scientific 

information 
and Advice

2010
$000

Service 2 
Research and 
development

2010
$000

Service 3 
emergency 

Response 
management

2010
$000

total

2010
$000

inCome     

Provision of services 9,543 1,658 999 12,200

other income 7 - - 7

     

total income 9,550 1,658 999 12,207

     

eXpenses     

employee benefits expense 8,496 1,476 889 10,861

Supplies and services 1,402 - - 1,402

depreciation and amortisation expense 1,114 - - 1114

Accommodation expenses 4,564 - - 4,564

other expenses 3,651 182 110 3,943

total expenses 19,227 1,658 999 21,884

     

Profit/(loss) before service appropriation government (9,677) - - (9,677)

     

net Appropriation from State government 7,816   7,816

Profit/(loss) after service appropriation (1,861)   (1,861)

Profit/(loss) before income tax equivalents expense (1,861)   (1,861)

income tax equivalent benefit/(expense) 306   306

Profit/(loss) for the period (1,555)   (1,555)

40. Contingent liability

As at the date of this report there were no contingent liabilities.
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Key Performance Indicators

CertiFiCation oF Key perFormanCe inDiCators

i hereby certify that the performance indicators are based on proper records, are relevant and 
appropriate for assisting users to assess ChemCentre’s performance, and fairly represent the performance 
of ChemCentre for the year ended 30th June 2010.

goveRnment goAl
social and environmental responsibility
ensuring that economic activity is managed in a socially and environmentally responsible manner for the 
long term benefit of the State.

AgenCy level goveRnment deSiRed outCome
quality independent scientific advice, research and development, and an emergency response capability 
that supports government and the wider community.

Key Performance Indicators

dr John farrow
member of governing Board
date: 10th September 2010

mr david mcAuliffe
member of governing Board
date: 10th September 2010
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KEY EFFECTIVENESS INDICATORS BY OUTPUT

outcome 1: emergency response management
Specialist technical advice and support to government and industry in managing the risks arising from 
unmanaged chemical-biological-radiological releases.
 2008-09 2009-10 2009-10

key effectiveness indicator Actual Actual target

Average Resolution time for all emergency response 
incidents attended: 
extracted from the response team log book

2.4 hr 3 hr 4 hr

the average response and resolution time is relevant because the quicker the ChemCentre responses to and resolves a 
chemical-biological-radiological emergency the lower the risk to the community.

outcome 2 & 3: Commercial scientific information and advice
development and delivery of quality scientific information and advice, including commercial services, 
to government, industry and the community.
 2008-09 2009-10 2009-10

key effectiveness indicator Actual Actual target

Client Satisfaction: as determined by a quarterly 
survey of clients randomly selected from the invoices 
sent out in the preceding quarter. the survey covered 
39 organizations with 100% response rate and 
representing about 15% of all clients we dealt with in 
the preceding quarter.

76% 83% 79%

the client satisfaction percentage is a relevant measure because it demonstrates the quality of ChemCentre's scientific 
information and advice through clients’ responses to questions on quality, timeliness and overall satisfaction with 
ChemCentre's service. the actual client satisfaction for 2010 was taken at a 95% confidence level and a sampling error of 
±6.6%.

 2008-09 2009-10 2009-10

key effectiveness indicator Actual Actual target

Proficiency Rating for the Accredited Services: as 
determined from the aggregate of all external 
proficiency trials undertaken during the relevant 
period. this relates to the percentage of all 
quantitative trial results that were less than 2 standard 
deviations from the mean of the results reported by 
all laboratories in the respective trials.

95% 94% 95%

the proficiency rating for the accredited services is relevant measure because it shows the accuracy and quality of the 
ChemCentre results.
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outcome 4: Quality research and Development
delivery of quality project-based developed knowledge, know-how and/or intellectual property rel-
evant to state development, public health and safety, or delivery of ChemCentre’s other services.
 2008-09 2009-10 2009-10

key effectiveness indicator Actual Actual target

Aggregate value of ChemCentre Components: as 
determined by the ratio of R & d sold or for which 
a grant has been received to internal R & d amount 
spent.

46/54 49/51 50/50

the ratio of R & d sold or for which a grant has been received, to internal R & d amount spent, is relevant because it 
demonstrates to ChemCentre's management the spending of appropriations by maintaining or bettering the budget ratio 
of in house spending to external funding. 

 2008-09 2009-10 2009-10

key effectiveness indicator Actual Actual target

Client Satisfaction: as determined by an annual survey 
of clients randomly selected from R&d projects 
fully or substantially completed over the previous 
financial year. 15 responses were collected from 19 
survey invitations, representing approximately 75% of 
ChemCentre’s total current R&d projects.

n/A 78% 80%

the client satisfaction percentage is a relevant measure because it demonstrates the quality of ChemCentre's R & d, through 
clients’ responses to questions on quality, timeliness and their desire to use ChemCentre again. the actual client satisfaction 
for 2010 was taken at a 95% confidence level and a sampling error of ±9.7%. A client satisfaction survey was not conducted 
during the year ending 30 June 2009 and therefore there is no comparative figure.

noteS

outcome 1: emergency response management
the 2010 average response and resolution time of 3.0 hrs is compatible with previous year and betters 
the target; it is therefore an acceptable outcome.

outcome 2 & 3: Commercial scientific information and advice
the client satisfaction of 83% is a significant improvement on previous year and is also above target 
for the current year. this is a pleasing result and demonstrates ChemCentre’s commitment to providing 
quality and timely commercial solutions. the proficiency rating is marginally lower than previous year 
and target and ChemCentre will be examining how the result for next year can be improved.

outcome 4: Quality research and Development
the ratio of R & d sales to in-house contribution is below target because many of the projects completed 
in the year under review were started in the previous year. the Client Satisfaction percentage was also 
below target mainly due to timeliness of completion. this will be addressed in the forthcoming year with 
additional project management tools.

Key Performance Indicators
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KEY EFFICIENCY INDICATORS BY OUTPUT

service 1: Commercial scientific information and advice
development and delivery of scientific information and advice, including commercial services, to gov-
ernment, industry and the community.
 2008-09 2009-10 2009-10

key efficiency indicator Actual Actual target

total cost for service $11,884,000 $19,227,000 $12,340,000 

Billable hours: as calculated for the average staffing 
over the period

84,109 hr 91,274 hr 92,000 hr

Average Cost per Chargeable hour(a) $141 $211 $135 

service 2: research and Development(b)

Project-based development of knowledge, know-how and/or intellectual property relevant to state 
development, public health and safety, or delivery of ChemCentre’s other services.
 2008-09 2009-10 2009-10

key efficiency indicator Actual Actual target

total cost for service $1,980,000 $1,658,000 $1,520,000 

Billable hours: as calculated for the average staffing 
over the period

8,500 hr 7,421 hr 9,500 hr

Average Cost per Chargeable hour(b) $233 $223 $160 

service 3: emergency response management
Specialist technical advice and support to government and industry in managing the risks arising from 
unmanaged chemical-biological-radiological releases.
 2008-09 2009-10 2009-10

key efficiency indicator Actual Actual target

total cost for service $858,000 $999,000 $900,000 

Billable hours: as calculated for the average staffing 
over the period

3,883 hr 3,354 hr 5,150 hr

Average Cost per Chargeable hour(c) $221 $298 $175 

noteS      
(a) Service 1 average cost per billable hour is much higher than last year because of the impact of rent 
and outgoings for the new premises. the target rate is based on the Budget statements prepared several 
years ago -  see page 17 for a fuller explanation. Chargeable hours for service 2 and 3 are the actual hours 
recorded and extracted from laboratory records and charged against those services. the chargeable 
hours for service 1 are calculated and based on full time equivalents.

(b) Service 2 average cost per billable hour is lower than last year because the ratio of paid to unpaid R & 
d has improved. the target rate is based on the Budget statements prepared several years ago. See page 
17 for a fuller explanation.

(c) Service 3 average cost per billable hour is higher than previous year because of the impact of rent 
and outgoings for the new premises. the target rate is based on the Budget statements prepared several 
years ago. See page 17 for a fuller explanation.
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Other Financial Disclosures

priCing poliCies oF serviCes proviDeD
ChemCentre has discretion over pricing for goods and services rendered.

employment anD inDustrial relations

staff profile
2009-10 2008-09

full-time permanent 73 84
full-time contract 32 28
Part-time measured on a fte basis 6.6 -

111.6 112

staffing policies and staff development
ChemCentre is committed to the attraction and retention of a skilled and motivated workforce. this 
commitment includes the on-going review of corporate policies and procedures, including recruitment 
and selection practices. ChemCentre offers work experience opportunities and placements for tAfe 
and university students during the year to help individuals considering a career in the chemistry related 
analysis and research.

ChemCentre has a commitment to the development of its employees. our strategies are to build a 
highly skilled professional and fair workforce with the ability to adapt to changing business technology 
and the environment. more than 4% of direct salary costs were invested in training and professional 
development this financial year. during the financial period, staff spent in excess of $643,000 on in-house 
and external training compared with $171,000 in 2008-09.

Workers’ Compensation
five claims were made this financial year, four of minor nature and one for hearing loss. total lost time for 
the period to 30 June 2010 was 23.5 hours. human Resources follow up any accident report to assist with 
lodging workers’ compensation claims. 

Governance Disclosures

ministerial DireCtives [ti 903(12)]
no ministerial directives were received during the financial period.

Contracts with senior officers
At the date of reporting, other than normal contracts of employment of service, no Senior officers, or 
firms of which Senior officers are members, or entities in which Senior officers have substantial interests 
had any interests in existing or proposed contracts with ChemCentre and Senior officers.

insurance premiums paid to indemnify members of the board
An insurance policy has been taken out to indemnify members of the Board against any liability incurred 
under sections 13 or 14 of the Statutory Corporations (liability of directors) Act 1996. the amount of the 
insurance premium paid for 2009/2010 was $4,841 compared with $5,090 in 2008/2009.

Governance Disclosures
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Other Legal Requirements

ComplianCe With publiC seCtor stanDarDs anD ethiCal CoDes 
in accordance with s31(1) of the Public Sector management Act 1994, ChemCentre has ensured 
compliance with the public sector standards, the wA Code of ethics by the following actions:
1. Review of all ChemCentre policies within the previous 12 months to ensure compliance with current 

government requirements;
2. Review of ChemCentre’s code of conduct to ensure it supports the wA Code of ethics and the public 

sector standards; 
3. Raising ChemCentre employees’ awareness of its code of conduct and wA Code of ethics through 

Ceo lead communication sessions.
4. 108 staff received accountability and ethical decision making training.
5. Raise awareness of employee responsibilities in the area of ethics and public sector standards, 

ChemCentre uses monthly communication sessions, weekly newsletters, induction sessions and the 
intranet.

using the actions listed above, the following results have been achieved:
Compliance area Compliance issues
Public sector standards 1 breach claim – not upheld.
wA code of ethics 0 reports of non-compliance
ChemCentre code of conduct 0 reports of non-compliance

eleCtoral aCt 1907 seCtion 175Ze
in compliance with section 175Ze of the electoral Act 1907, ChemCentre is required to report on 
expenditure incurred during the financial period in relation to advertising agencies, market research 
organisations, polling organisations, direct mail organisations and media advertising organisations.

the details of the report are as follows:
expenditure with Advertising Agencies  
expenditure with market Research Agencies $42,471

Rubis Pty ltd $1,760
expenditure with Polling Agencies -
expenditure with direct mail Agencies -
expenditure with media Advertising Agencies $13,398

marketforce express & Adcorp
total eXpenDiture $57,629

annual estimates
Section 40 of the fmA provides for the accountable authority of a statutory authority to submit annual 
estimates of the annual operations of the statutory authority to the minister for approval.
the estimates are to be prepared and submitted to the minister at such times as determined by the 
treasurer, or no later than three months before the commencement of the next financial year.
Statutory authorities not funded as a separate division of the Consolidated Account expenditure 
estimates should include the approved annual estimates for the current financial period in the annual 
report of the preceding financial year submitted to the responsible minister under the provisions of 
section 61 of the Act.

Other Legal Requirements
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Disability aCCess anD inClusion plan outComes
ChemCentre’s disability Access and inclusion Plan (dAiP) is available to the public on its website. 
ChemCentre is working towards completing the outcomes incorporated into the plan. the relocation 
to a new building has provided the physical access requirements detailed in the plan. over the next 
twelve months ChemCentre will concentrate on improving its disability access services and ensuring 
ChemCentre staff and the public are aware of their availability.
Current initiatives address the following desired dAiP outcomes:
1. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the services of, and 

any events organised by, ChemCentre.
2. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to access the buildings and 

other facilities of ChemCentre.
3. People with disabilities can request to receive information from ChemCentre in a format that will 

enable them to access the information as readily as other people are able to access it.
4. People with disabilities receive the same level and quality of service from the staff of ChemCentre as 

other people receive.
5. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to make complaints to 

ChemCentre.
6. People with disabilities have the same opportunities as other people to participate in any public 

consultation by ChemCentre.

reCorDKeeping plan
in compliance with the State Records Act 2000, ChemCentre has an approved recordkeeping plan. 
1. efficiency and effectiveness
Suggestions for improvements to ChemCentre’ recordkeeping system have been evaluated and 
incorporated through the continuous improvement system. it is proposed to carry out a formal 
evaluation of the efficiency and effectiveness of ChemCentre’s recordkeeping system will be carried out 
in the next financial year.
2. training
ChemCentre has purchased an online training program for records awareness that has been completed 
by 96% of staff during 2009-10. 56% of staff were retrained on the Records management System. Regular 
information in the form of newsletter items and emails to employees are produced to ensure that staff 
are familiar with their record keeping responsibilities.
in addition, ChemCentre has in place record keeping policies and procedures which includes the 
management of emails. Several updated and new pamphlets covering a range of recordkeeping topics 
are available on the intranet.
3. evaluation
An evaluation of the efficiency and effectiveness of recordkeeping training will be assessed in the next 
financial year. 
4. induction Program
ChemCentre has mandatory records and document management training that all employees attend as 
part of their induction. in addition, new staff are required to complete the online training program for 
records awareness and attend a small group or one to one training session on the Records management 
System. Pamphlets covering a range of recordkeeping topics are provided to all new employees as part 
of the induction package.

Other Legal Requirements
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Government Policy Requirements

Corruption prevention
ChemCentre has appropriate risk management policies in place that incorporate strategies to minimise 
the risk of fraud, misconduct and corruption. these include policies and procedures for:
• Confidentiality and Release of official information
• expenditure on official hospitality
• Conflict of interest
• Staff induction 

these policies and education of staff have helped develop a culture of awareness relating to potential 
fraud, corruption and misconduct.

substantive eQuality
ChemCentre is not a member of the Strategic management Council and therefore is not required to 
report on Substantive equality.

oCCupational saFety, health anD inJury management
ChemCentre has policies and procedures committing it to sound occupational health and safety and 
injury management practices. All new employees receive an intensive safety induction. An ongoing 
program of safety training is carried out on a monthly basis.
the occupational Safety and health Committee, including safety representatives nominated by 
employees, form the key to occupational safety and health consultation. the Committee members are 
accessible and effectively utilised by both management and employees in the discussion and resolution 
of occupational safety and health issues.
the occupational Safety and health Committee meets monthly to discuss and resolve occupational 
issues, review hazard and incident reports and review progress against the occupational Safety and 
health Plan.
in accordance with the workers’ Compensation and injury management Act 1981, ChemCentre has a 
documented injury management system and which is readily available to all employees through the 
intranet. A return to work program strategy has been developed.
ChemCentre’s occupational Safety and health Plan is monitored internally on a monthly basis and 
outcomes reported to the Board.

Annual performance for 2008/09 against the following targets:
indicator 2008-

09(1)
2009-
10(1)

target 2009-10 Result

number of fatalities 0 0 Zero (0) target achieved.

lost time injury/disease (lti/d) 
incidence rate 

2 1 Zero (0) or 10% reduction on 
previous year 

target achieved. there is a 
50% reduction on previous 
year.

lost time injury severity rate 0.0 0.0 Zero (0) or 10% improvement 
on previous year 

target achieved. 
0 (Zero)

Percentage of injured workers re-
turned to work within 28 weeks 

100% 100% Actual percentage result 100% of injured workers 
returned to work.

Percentage of managers trained 
in occupational safety, health and 
injury management responsibilities 

72% 57% greater than or equal to 50% target achieved. (57%)

notes:
(1) the results are sourced from the Risk Cover’s Performance worksheet 2010 and internal training records.

Government Policy Requirements
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Scientific Papers and Presentations

aCaDemiC papers
Cruickshank, C & dyer, kR 2009 ‘A review of the clinical pharmacology of methamphetamine’, Addiction, 
vol. 104, pp. 1085-1099

hanson, Ce, hyndes, gA & Wang, sF 2010 ‘differentiation of benthic marine primary producers using 
stable isotopes and fatty acids: implications to food web studies’, Aquatic Botany, vol. 93, pp. 114-122

ho, KW, krebs, gl, mcCafferty, p, van wyngaarden, SP & Addison, J 2009 ‘using faecal dnA to determine 
consumption by kangaroos of plants considered palatable to sheep’, Animal Consortium, vol. 4, pp. 282-
288

kumara mahipala, mBP, krebs, gl, mcCafferty, p, Dods, K & Suriyagoda, BmldB 2009 ‘faecal indices 
predict organic matter digestibility, short chain fatty acid production and metabolizable energy content 
of browse-containing sheep diets’, Animal feed Science and technology, vol. 154:1-2, pp. 68-75

kumara mahipala, mBP, krebs, gl, mcCafferty, p, Dods, K 2009 ‘effects of supplementation with 
Chamaecytisus palmensis, grown in the western Australian mediterranean environment, on the nutritive 
value of sheep diets’, Small Ruminant Research, vol. 84, pp. 54-60.

kumara mahipala, mBP, krebs, gl, mcCafferty, p, Dods, K 2009 ‘effects of increasing the inclusion level of 
Atriplex amnicola in the diet of sheep’, Animal Production Science, may 2009 issue 49, pp. 1029-1034

nasar-Abbas, Sm, Plummer, JA, Siddique, k, white, P, harris, D, Dods, K & Antuono, m 2009 ‘faba bean 
(Vicia faba l.) seeds darken rapidly and phenolic content falls when stored at higher temperature, 
moisture and light intensity’, lwt - food Science and technology, vol. 42:10, pp. 1703-1711

Scott, B, taplin, R, loos, C & mcCafferty, p 2009 ‘Classification and Acid Sulfate Soil detection at Ashfield, 
western Australia’, environmental health, vol. 9, no. 3.

Singh, SP, Singh, Z & swinny ee 2009 ‘Postharvest nitric oxide fumigation delays fruit ripening and 
alleviates chilling injury during cold storage of Japanese plums (Prunus salicina lindell)’, Postharvest 
Biology and technology, vol. 53, pp. 101-108

Singh, SP, Singh, Z & swinny ee 2009 ‘Sugars and organic acids in Japanese plums (Prunus salicina lindell) 
as influenced by maturation, harvest date, storage temperature and period’, international Journal of food 
Science and technology, vol. 44, pp. 1973-1982.

yang, x, Croft, kd, lee, yP, mori, tA, Puddey, iB, Sipsas, S, Barden, A, swinny, ee & hodgson, Jm 2010 
‘the effects of a lupin-enriched diet on oxidative stress and factors influencing vascular function in 
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qqq)’, presented at the forensic and Clinical toxicology Association Symposium, melbourne, viC.

thomas, s 2009 ‘liquid Chromatography-mass Spectrometry use at ChemCentre’, presented at Agilent 
lCmS user group meeting, Adelaide, SA.

tranthim-Fryer, DJ, James, e, hyde, g & Pitcher, d 2009 ‘occupational forensics: the investigation of 
a heat-stress induced death that occurred during the transport from laverton to kalgoorlie in a non-
airconditioned prisoner transport vehicle’, presented at the 27th Annual Conference of the Australian 
institute of occupational hygienists’, Canberra, ACt.

Walton, K & Allen, d 2009 ‘evaluating the benefits of soil amendment for golf courses’, presented at turf 
grass Association of Australia Conference, hobart, tAS.

Walton, K 2009 ‘Building attractive, environmentally and economically sustainable landscapes, soil 
amendment field trials using recycled organics’, presented at Compost wA Conference, Perth, wA.

West, n & Wilkinson, s 2009 ‘onsite analysis of volatile organic Compounds using a Portable gas 
Chromatograph mass Spectrometer’, presented at 19th international Clean Air and environment 
Conference, Perth, wA.

Wilkinson, s & muir, B 2009 ‘Assessment of contamination by Chemical warfare Agents – the dqo 
approach’, presented at Cleanup 09, CRC CARe, Adelaide, SA.

Wilkinson, s 2009  ‘Analysis of Chemical warfare Agent gC/mS data using AmdiS’, presented at Chemical 
warfare Agent laboratory network, melbourne, viC.

Wilkinson, s 2009 ‘detection, sampling and analysis at a CBR/hazmat incident’, presented at 
management of CBR incidents meeting, Perth, wA.

Wilkinson, s 2010 ‘Australian Subway Studies’, presented at transport Security Sub Committee meeting, 
Perth, wA.

Wilkinson, s 2010 ‘ChemCentre’s role in CBR/hazmat incidents’, presented at defence Science and 
technology laboratories, Porton down, uk.

Wilkinson, s 2010 ‘Chemicals of a security concern’, presented at department of foreign Affairs and 
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4th Floor Dumas House  2 Havelock Street  West Perth 6005  Western Australia  Tel: 08 9222 7500  Fax: 08 9322 5664 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT OPINION 

To the Parliament of Western Australia 

CHEMISTRY CENTRE (WA) 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND KEY PERFORMANCE INDICATORS  
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2010 

I have audited the accounts, financial statements, controls and key performance indicators of the 
Chemistry Centre (WA). 

The financial statements comprise the Statement of Financial Position as at 30 June 2010, and 
the Statement of Comprehensive Income, Statement of Changes in Equity and Statement of 
Cash Flows for the year then ended, a summary of significant accounting policies and other 
explanatory Notes. 

The key performance indicators consist of key indicators of effectiveness and efficiency. 

Board’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators 
The Board is responsible for keeping proper accounts, and the preparation and fair presentation 
of the financial statements in accordance with Australian Accounting Standards and the 
Treasurer’s Instructions, and the key performance indicators. This responsibility includes 
establishing and maintaining internal controls relevant to the preparation and fair presentation of 
the financial statements and key performance indicators that are free from material 
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error; selecting and applying appropriate accounting 
policies; making accounting estimates that are reasonable in the circumstances; and complying 
with the Financial Management Act 2006 and other relevant written law. 

Summary of my Role 
As required by the Auditor General Act 2006, my responsibility is to express an opinion on the 
financial statements, controls and key performance indicators based on my audit. This was done 
by testing selected samples of the audit evidence. I believe that the audit evidence I have 
obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my audit opinion. Further 
information on my audit approach is provided in my audit practice statement. This document is 
available on the OAG website under “How We Audit”. 

An audit does not guarantee that every amount and disclosure in the financial statements and 
key performance indicators is error free. The term “reasonable assurance” recognises that an 
audit does not examine all evidence and every transaction. However, my audit procedures 
should identify errors or omissions significant enough to adversely affect the decisions of users 
of the financial statements and key performance indicators. 
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Chemistry Centre (WA) 
Financial Statements and Key Performance Indicators for the year ended 30 June 2010 

Audit Opinion 
In my opinion, 

(i) the financial statements are based on proper accounts and present fairly the financial 
position of the Chemistry Centre (WA) at 30 June 2010 and its financial performance 
and cash flows for the year ended on that date. They are in accordance with 
Australian Accounting Standards and the Treasurer’s Instructions;  

(ii) the controls exercised by the Centre provide reasonable assurance that the receipt, 
expenditure and investment of money, the acquisition and disposal of property, and 
the incurring of liabilities have been in accordance with legislative provisions; and 

(iii) the key performance indicators of the Centre are relevant and appropriate to help 
users assess the Centre’s performance and fairly represent the indicated performance 
for the year ended 30 June 2010. 

GLEN CLARKE 
ACTING AUDITOR GENERAL 
15 September 2010 
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